



## **58th DIRECTING COUNCIL**

### 72nd SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE OF WHO FOR THE AMERICAS

Virtual Session, 28-29 September 2020

CD58/FR 29 September 2020 Original: English

FINAL REPORT

## CD58/FR

### **CONTENTS**

Pa	age
Opening of the Session	4
Procedural Matters	
Appointment of the Committee on Credentials	4
Election of Officers	5
Establishment of a Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B	
of the PAHO Constitution	5
Establishment of the General Committee	5
Adoption of the Agenda	5
Constitutional Matters	
Annual Report of the President of the Executive Committee	6
Annual Report of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau	7
Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee	
on the Expiration of the Periods of Office of Belize, Canada,	
and Peru1	0
Program Policy Matters	
Report of the End-of-biennium Assessment of the PAHO Program	
and Budget 2018-2019/Final Report on the Implementation	
of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-20191	0
COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas1	3
PAHO Governance Reform	
Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the Pan American	
Health Organization Strategic Priorities2	1
Administrative and Financial Matters	
Report on the Collection of Assessed Contributions	4
Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor	
for 20192	
Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund	0
Programming of the Budget Surplus	2
Programming of the Revenue Surplus	2
Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of PAHO3	
Update on the Appointment of the External Auditor of PAHO	
for 2022-20233	5
Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public	
Health Supplies for Member States	5

## CONTENTS (cont.)

	Pag
Election of of the L	Der States to Boards and Committees Two Members to the Advisory Committee atin American and Caribbean Center on Health s Information (BIREME)
<b>Matters for Inform</b>	nation
	tion of the International Health Regulations
Other Matters	41
Closure of the Ses	sion39
Closure of the Ses	37
Resolutions and D	ecisions
Resolutions	
CD58.R1:	Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund40
CD58.R2:	Programming of the Budget Surplus40
CD58.R3:	PAHO Governance Reform41
CD58.R4:	Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of
	Public Health Supplies for Member States 42
CD58.R5:	Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee on the Expiration of the Periods of Office of Belize, Canada, and Peru
CD58.R6:	Election of Two Members to the Advisory Committee of the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (BIREME)
CD58.R7:	Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of PAHO44
CD58.R8:	Collection of Assessed Contributions
CD58.R9:	COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the America45
Decisions	
	Election of Officers48
CD58(D2):	
CD58(D3):	
CD58(D4):	
CD58(D5):	
CD58(D6):	
Annexes	
Annex A. Age	
Annex B. List	
Anney C List	of Participants

#### FINAL REPORT

### **Opening of the Session**

- 1. The 58th Directing Council, 72nd Session of the Regional Committee of the World Health Organization (WHO) for the Americas, was held on 28 and 29 September 2020. Owing to the extraordinary and unprecedented circumstances presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, the session was held online using a virtual meeting platform.
- 2. Dr. Daniel Salas Peraza (Minister of Health, Costa Rica, outgoing President) opened the session and welcomed the participants. Opening remarks were made by Dr. Salas Peraza, H.E. Ms. Mia Mottley (Prime Minister of Barbados), H.E. Mr. Iván Duque Márquez (President of Colombia), Dr. Carissa Etienne (Director, Pan American Sanitary Bureau), Mr. Alex M. Azar II (Secretary of Health and Human Services, United States of America), Mr. Luis Almagro Lemes (Secretary General, Organization of American States), Mr. Luis Alberto Moreno (President, Inter-American Development Bank), and Dr. Tedros Adhanon Ghebreyesus (Director-General, World Health Organization). Their respective speeches may be found on the webpage of the 58th Directing Council.<sup>1</sup>

#### **Procedural Matters**

#### Appointment of the Committee on Credentials

- 3. Pursuant to Rule 31 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council appointed Antigua and Barbuda, Costa Rica, and Paraguay as members of the Committee on Credentials (Decision CD58[D3]).
- 4. The Committee met on 28 September to review the credentials submitted by the delegations in attendance, and Dr. Rhonda Sealey-Thomas (Antigua and Barbuda, President of the Committee on Credentials) subsequently presented its report. Several delegations emphasized that, in accordance with Resolution 1117 (2200/19) of the Permanent Council of the Organization of American States (OAS), their Governments did not recognize the regime of Nicolás Maduro and that the accreditation of representatives of the Maduro administration should not be interpreted as a tacit recognition of the legitimacy of that regime. Other delegations regretted the politicization of the matter, particularly in the context of the COVID-19 health emergency, and pointed out that the United Nations and WHO had recognized Nicolás Maduro and his Government as the legitimate representatives of the Venezuelan people.
- 5. The Directing Council approved the report of the Committee on Credentials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Available at: https://www.paho.org/en/governing-bodies/directing-council/58th-Directing-Council.

### Election of Officers

6. Pursuant to Rule 16 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council elected the following officers (Decision CD58[D1]):

President: Colombia (Hon. Fernando Ruiz Gómez)

Vice President: Grenada (Hon. Nickolas Steele)

Vice President: Honduras (Hon. Alba Consuelo Flores Ferrufino)

Rapporteur: Uruguay (Dr. Miguel Asqueta Sóñora)

7. The Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (PASB or Bureau), Dr. Carissa Etienne, served as Secretary ex officio, and the Deputy Director, Ms. Mary Lou Valdez, served as Technical Secretary.

## Establishment of a Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution

8. Pursuant to Rule 34 of the Rules of Procedure, the Directing Council appointed Aruba, El Salvador, and Trinidad and Tobago as members of the Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution (Decision CD58[D2]). The Working Party subsequently presented its report as part of the Council's consideration of the report on the collection of assessed contributions (Document CD58/9, Add. II) (see paragraphs 97 to 104 below).

#### Establishment of the General Committee

9. It was agreed that, in light of the logistical limitations presented by the virtual meeting platform, all matters related to the orderly dispatch of the business of the Council that would ordinarily have been dealt with by the General Committee would be dealt with by the Council itself (Decision CD58[D4]).

#### Adoption of the Agenda (Document CD58/1)

- 10. The Directing Council was informed that, given the extraordinary and unprecedented circumstances presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, the proposed agenda included only those items about which decisions were required to ensure the Organization's ability to discharge its functions or to deal with the COVID-19 health emergency in the Region of the Americas.
- 11. The Directing Council adopted the agenda proposed by the Director (Document CD58/1) without change, together with a program of meetings (Document CD58/WP/1) (Decision CD58[D5]).

#### **Constitutional Matters**

### Annual Report of the President of the Executive Committee (Document CD58/2)

- 12. The Honorable Jeffrey Bostic (Barbados, President of the Executive Committee) reported on the activities carried out by the Executive Committee between October 2019 and September 2020, highlighting the items that had been discussed by the Committee but not sent forward for consideration by the 58th Directing Council and noting that he would report on other items as they were taken up by the Council. He also noted that the Subcommittee on Program, Budget, and Administration had not held its 14th Session as planned owing to the extraordinary and unprecedented circumstances presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. For the same reason, all of the Committee's deliberations in 2020 had been conducted online using a virtual meeting platform.
- 13. Mr. Bostic informed the Council that the Committee had held a special session on 29 May 2020 to discuss the financial crisis caused by delays in the receipt of assessed contributions and to consider several proposed measures for dealing with the situation. The Committee had also considered, and approved, a proposal for an emergency loan from the Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines to the Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies to enable the latter Fund to meet the demand for procurement of COVID-19 emergency supplies.
- 14. Mr. Bostic reported that, at its 166th Session in June 2020, the Committee had considered a reduced agenda consisting only of matters that had to be decided upon for the Organization to be able to properly discharge its functions and matters related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Three of the items considered by the Committee had not been sent forward to the Directing Council: appointment of a new member to the PAHO Audit Committee, amendments to the PAHO Staff Rules related to staff salaries and other benefits, and a report on the Master Capital Investment Fund. In relation to the latter, the Committee had been informed that, in December 2019, PAHO had purchased the building located at 2121 Virginia Avenue, across from the PAHO Headquarters building in Washington, D.C., and that the acquisition of the building was expected to save at least US\$ 1.2 million<sup>2</sup> per year in rental payments, which would reduce general operating expenses and thus benefit the Organization's program budget. Details on the Committee's deliberations on these and other matters may be found in the final reports of the various sessions.<sup>3</sup>
- 15. The Director expressed thanks to the President and the other Members of the Executive Committee for their service to the Organization.
- 16. The Council also thanked the President and the Members of the Committee for their work and took note of the report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, all monetary figures in this report are expressed in United States dollars.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Documents CE165/FR (2019), CESS1/FR (2020), and CE166/FR (2020).

# Annual Report of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (Document CD58/3)

- The Director introduced her annual report,<sup>4</sup> the theme of which was 17. "Saving Lives and Improving Health and Well-being." She noted that the report covered the period from July 2019 to June 2020, a period during which PASB had faced many significant and daunting challenges. Together with all the countries of the Region, the Bureau had responded to the COVID-19 pandemic, which had disrupted almost every aspect of life, work, and business. At the same time, the Bureau had been challenged by an unprecedented financial crisis due to the delay in receipt of a significant proportion of Member State assessed contributions and a freeze on some voluntary contributions. That situation had severely tested the Bureau's resilience and capacity to function effectively and had compelled it to implement substantial cost-containment measures while simultaneously responding to the numerous pandemic-related needs of Members States. Nevertheless, with solidarity and a deep-rooted spirit of Pan Americanism, the Region had confronted those challenges, transforming systems and processes, innovating, and producing results to improve the health of the peoples of the Americas, especially those living in conditions of vulnerability.
- 18. Highlighting some of the results achieved, the Director reported that the Bureau had progressed towards universal access to health and universal health coverage by promoting the leadership and governance aspects of the updated essential public health functions and helping to strengthen integrated health services delivery networks. It had continued to promote the Regional Compact on Primary Health Care for Universal Health, taking every opportunity to advocate for reducing barriers to access, increasing public expenditure on health, and allocating at least 30% of health care resources to the first level of care. In the face of disruptions in global supply chains associated with the pandemic, the Bureau had worked to ensure continued availability of essential supplies through the Organization's procurement funds. In addition, it had made donations of COVID-19 test kits and personal protective equipment to numerous countries.
- 19. Progress had also been made in the elimination of communicable diseases, including HIV, hepatitis B, malaria, tuberculosis, and neglected infectious diseases such as rabies. Through its Immunization Program, the Bureau had supported countries and territories in maintaining their vaccination programs and had begun to lay the groundwork for the introduction of a COVID-19 vaccine. The Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines had delivered 24 million doses of seasonal influenza vaccines to Member States in the southern hemisphere in order to protect their populations and limit the potential negative impacts of dual epidemics of COVID-19 and influenza during the fall and winter.
- 20. The Director noted that, in addition to mounting a multifaceted response to the COVID-19 emergency (see paragraphs 44 to 65 below), the Bureau had continued its work in numerous other areas, including support for efforts to address the climate crisis, particularly in the Caribbean; efforts to enhance disaster and emergency preparedness and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The full text of the Director's speech may be found on the website of the 58th Directing Council.

response, including through strengthening of core capacities for the implementation of the International Health Regulations (2005) and intensive work to enhance pandemic influenza preparedness in the Region; ongoing work to maintain maternal, neonatal, and child health and the health of older persons; and efforts to accelerate prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs). In the latter area, the Bureau had conducted a rapid assessment of the impact of the pandemic on NCD services and had also provided guidance on mental health and psychosocial support as part of the response not only to COVID-19 but also to the numerous severe hurricanes that had struck the Region in recent years.

- 21. The Bureau had striven to maintain PAHO's reputation as a trusted source of up-to-date, accurate information on public health issues, in particular COVID-19. Various activities had been implemented to support countries and territories, including the development of a curated evidence portal. The Bureau's technical cooperation had prioritized the strengthening of information systems for health, including greater disaggregation of data—necessary to identify inequities—and the adoption of digital health solutions, including telehealth. Internally, the Bureau had implemented innovations in administrative and management systems and accelerated the digital transformation already under way in order to facilitate teleworking by staff.
- 22. The Director concluded her presentation by noting that the health, social, and economic impacts of the pandemic would have far-reaching effects on progress towards the achievement of national, subregional, regional, and global health goals and that massive and sustained interventions would be required to control and contain COVID-19, tackle increasing poverty levels, reduce health and social inequalities, and position health at the center of equitable and sustainable development. Looking ahead, the Bureau must therefore reinforce the importance of universal health anchored in the primary health care approach as a cornerstone for building resilience.
- 23. In the ensuing discussion, delegates thanked the Director for her report, the theme of which was considered especially apt in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Delegates expressed gratitude to the Bureau for the support provided to their countries during the pandemic, including through the provision of critical medical supplies. Numerous delegates noted that the pandemic had highlighted PAHO's central role in leading the response to public health emergencies in the Region and underscored the importance of ensuring that it received the support it needed to continue fulfilling that role. Concern was expressed about ongoing delays in the payment of assessed contributions, and Member States were urged to meet their financial obligations to the Organization in a timely manner.
- 24. Delegates underscored the need for multilateralism, solidarity, and collaboration, stressing that no country could defeat the pandemic on its own. The importance of examining the lessons learned from the response to the pandemic in order to better prepare for future health emergencies was also emphasized. Member States were encouraged to participate in the work of the Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response, created pursuant to Resolution WHA73.1, adopted by the Seventy-third World Health Assembly in May 2020.

- 25. A number of delegates observed that the pandemic had revealed weaknesses in health systems and deepened existing inequalities and inequities. The need to continue working to build resilient and inclusive health systems and achieve the goal of universal access to health and universal health coverage was underlined. To that end, it was considered essential to reinforce the primary health care approach and enhance the response capacity of the first level of care. In order to preserve the public health gains detailed in the report, it was also considered essential to continue efforts to prevent and control diseases other than COVID-19 and to address social, economic, and environmental determinants of health. The importance of multisectoral action was also stressed. It was pointed out that progress on many fronts had slowed or stopped as a result of the pandemic, which might have an impact on the Region's ability to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. The Bureau was asked to identify possible areas for prioritization that would not further tax countries' health systems and human resources.
- 26. Delegates described the steps their governments had taken to strengthen their health systems and respond to the pandemic while also continuing to deal with other health problems. The Delegates of Cuba and Venezuela noted that their governments' efforts to control the pandemic had been hindered by political and economic measures imposed by the United States of America. The Delegate of the United States regretted that the Cuban and Venezuelan delegations had raised political issues in the context of the Directing Council of PAHO. He called on the Bureau and PAHO Member States to insist that Cuba should report to PAHO on its recruitment and export of medical professionals and to address allegations that it was engaging in the trafficking of such professionals.
- 27. Representatives of two non-State actors addressed the Council, describing their organizations' collaboration with PAHO, including in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, and emphasizing the need for collective effort to overcome the pandemic and improve the health and well-being of the peoples of the Americas.
- 28. The Director affirmed that the achievements described in the report were, in fact, the achievements of Member States, not just in the past year but over the 118 years of the Organization's existence. Noting the comments made about a possible need to revise the goals and priorities established in relation to the Sustainable Development Goals, she pointed out that the Goals themselves might be revised, in which case it might indeed be necessary to revise some of the targets in the Sustainable Health Agenda for the Americas. She recommended, however, that any such modifications should be postponed until there had been a full assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on health systems and other areas. She emphasized the need to redouble efforts to bring about the paradigm shifts required to overcome problems such as social exclusion, inequities, and poverty and to be mindful of the threats posed by zoonotic diseases, microbial resistance, and climate change. She looked forward to working with Member States to achieve not only their respective national goals but also the collective goals of the Region.
- 29. The Directing Council thanked the Director and took note of the report.

# Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee on the Expiration of the Periods of Office of Belize, Canada, and Peru (Document CD58/4)

- 30. The Directing Council was informed that the period of office of Belize, Canada, and Peru as Members of the Executive Committee had expired and that the election of Brazil, Cuba, and Suriname was proposed.
- 31. In the Council's discussion, the leadership and achievements of the outgoing Executive Committee Members were commended, and the delegates of Brazil and Suriname welcomed the opportunity to serve on the Executive Committee. The Delegate of the United States of America objected to the seating of Cuba as a Member of the Committee. Noting that the Government of Cuba faced allegations of trafficking of medical workers, she said that her delegation believed that placing that Government on PAHO's Executive Committee would be contrary to the basic principles of an organization whose mandate was to promote and protect public health. She welcomed the decision by PAHO to initiate an independent review of the Mais Médicos project, which had involved Cuban medical workers, and called on Cuba to provide a full account of its actions.
- 32. The Delegate of Cuba categorically denied the allegations of human trafficking. She pointed out that Cuba's international medical missions had been recognized by WHO and the United Nations and that, under the Mais Médicos project, Cuban doctors and medical personnel had ensured access to health care for millions of Brazilians. The same delegate emphasized that, as a Member State of PAHO, Cuba had the right to serve on the Executive Committee.
- 33. At the request of the President of the Council, the Bureau clarified that, pursuant to Rule 51 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, in elections in which the number of candidates for elective office did not exceed the number of offices to be filled, no ballot was required and such candidates should therefore be declared elected.
- 34. The Directing Council declared Brazil, Cuba, and Suriname elected to membership on the Executive Committee for a three-year period and thanked Belize, Canada, and Peru for their service (Resolution CD58.R5).

#### **Program Policy Matters**

Report of the End-of-biennium Assessment of the PAHO Program and Budget 2018-2019/Final Report on the Implementation of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019 (Documents CD58/5 and Add. I)

35. Mr. Dean Chambliss (Director, Department of Planning and Budget, PASB) introduced the report, noting that, while the report built on the successful experience of ensuring joint accountability, the assessment had been conducted internally by PASB alone. It had not been possible to conduct joint assessments with Member States, as had been done in 2014-2015 and 2016-2017, in a context in which countries were fully engaged in dealing with the COVID-19 emergency. Nonetheless, the Bureau stood ready to support individual national health authorities that wished to complete their own assessment and

looked forward to a resumption of the joint assessment process after the 2020-2021 biennium.

- 36. Highlighting some of the results achieved during the period covered by the Strategic Plan, Mr. Chambliss reported that 31% of the impact targets had been exceeded, 23% had been achieved, 19% had been partially achieved, and 27% had not been achieved. Among the latter, healthy life expectancy not only had not risen by the expected 1% but had fallen by 0.2%. Other areas in which the results achieved had fallen short of the target included mortality from causes amendable to health care, mortality from NCDs, mortality from tuberculosis, and deaths due to malaria. On the other hand, the targets relating to infant mortality, mortality from HIV/AIDS, mortality from tuberculosis, dengue case fatality, elimination of onchocerciasis and malaria in some countries, suicide rate, mortality from road traffic injuries, and reduction of crude mortality following emergencies had all been achieved or exceeded.
- 37. As for outcome and output indicators, Mr. Chambliss reported that 33% of the outcome indicators for the period 2014-2019 had been achieved or exceeded, 44% had been partially achieved, and 16% had not been achieved, while 59% of the output indicators for the 2018-2019 biennium had been achieved or exceeded, 34% had been partially achieved, and 5% had not been achieved. A small percentage of the outcome and output indicators had not been rated owing to a lack of data. What the analysis suggested, he noted, was that while the Bureau had effectively worked with Member States in delivering results at the output level, additional efforts were required to achieve the desired results at the outcome level.
- With regard to budget implementation, the total approved budgets for the three 38. bienniums included within the period covered by the Strategic Plan 2014-2019 had totaled \$1.9 billion; 94% of that amount had been financed, 86% had been available for implementation, and 83% had been implemented. Mr. Chambliss explained that the amount financed included all income that the Bureau considered in funding the program budget, even when some of the funds had not been received or were intended for use in future bienniums, whereas the amount available represented actual cash receipts. Of the funds available for implementation over the six-year period, 97% had been implemented. In the 2018-2019 biennium, \$659 million of the total approved budget of \$676 million had been financed, but only \$556 million had been available for implementation; \$546 million (98%) of that amount had been implemented. Mr. Chambliss concluded by noting that the amounts approved and available for each of the six categories in the Strategic Plan had varied greatly and that categories 2 (noncommunicable diseases and risk factors) and 3 (determinants of health and promoting health throughout the life course) had chronically been, and remained, underfunded.
- 39. In the discussion that followed, several delegates remarked that the evaluation afforded an opportunity to reflect on the successes achieved and the lessons learned from the implementation of the Strategic Plan 2014-2019 and to identify challenges that remained to be overcome. Delegates also noted that, while the evaluation revealed the important progress achieved at country level with the Bureau's support, it also highlighted

several areas that required greater effort, in particular the need to eliminate the persistent inequities and access barriers that led to poorer health outcomes for vulnerable and marginalized populations. It was pointed out that many equity gaps had been deepened by the COVID-19 pandemic and that the region must redouble efforts under the new Strategic Plan 2020-2025 to achieve equity in health and realize the vision of the Sustainable Health Agenda for the Americas 2018-2030. It was considered important to maintain flexibility in the implementation of the Strategic Plan in order to respond effectively to the evolving challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.

- 40. One delegate, noting that the Region had made significant advances in bottom-up planning and joint evaluation, expressed concern about the Bureau's unilateral decision not to conduct a joint evaluation and instead to publish an evaluation based on information available to the Bureau, resulting in an incomplete evaluation based on insufficient technical evidence. In her view, the Executive Committee should have been allowed the opportunity to express an opinion on whether the Bureau should conduct a vertical evaluation or seek alternatives that would have enabled Member States to decide on the mechanism for evaluating achievements in the exceptional context created by the pandemic. Recalling a recommendation by the External Auditor concerning the need for a strategic approach to the management of the Organization, she called on the Bureau to reaffirm its commitment to the implementation of the joint evaluation processes agreed upon by the Governing Bodies.
- 41. Mr. Chambliss clarified that the decision regarding the assessment process had not been unilateral. The Bureau had launched the joint process as usual at the beginning of the year. However, Member States had overwhelmingly indicated that they would not be able to complete the exercise because of the pandemic. Since a high level of completion on the part of Member States was required in order for the exercise to be valid, it had simply not been feasible to proceed with a joint assessment. He agreed on the need to redouble efforts to protect the health gains made, particularly as a number of them were in jeopardy as a result of the pandemic. He also agreed on the importance of flexibility in implementing the Strategic Plan 2020-2025.
- 42. The Director, reiterating that the Bureau had not made a unilateral decision to forego the conduct of a joint assessment, recalled that the Americas had been the first WHO region to undertake such an exercise and that it had been the Bureau, not Member States, that had suggested a joint assessment. She affirmed that the Bureau fully recognized the sovereignty of Member States and was committed to working with them to achieve regional targets. It was clear that it would be necessary to revisit some of the targets that the Region had set, given the challenges of the pandemic and its economic repercussions for Member States. It would also be necessary to find more efficient and effectively ways of working. She reported that the Bureau had already begun to reexamine the impact of COVID-19 on the priority areas of work identified under the Strategic Plan 2020-2025. Its work and that of the Member State Working Group formed to consider possible revisions to the Organization's strategic priorities would feed into the planning process for the program budget for the 2022-2023 biennium.

43. The Directing Council took note of the report.

### COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas (Document CD58/6)

- 44. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had commended PAHO's leadership of the regional response to the pandemic and expressed thanks for the assistance and guidance that the Organization had provided to countries. Delegates had highlighted the need for a whole-of-government approach to address the pandemic's social and economic consequences as well as its impacts on health and health systems. The importance of strengthening health systems and ensuring continuity of care for health problems other than COVID-19 had been stressed. Delegates had also stressed the importance of adhering to the International Health Regulations (IHR), ensuring equitable access to medicines and vaccines for COVID-19, and working together to overcome the pandemic. The Committee had voiced strong support for the lines of action recommended in the document and the actions proposed in the accompanying resolution. Accordingly, the Committee recommended that the Directing Council adopt the resolution contained in Document CD58/6.
- 45. Two presentations were made on this item, one by Dr. Ciro Ugarte (Director, Department of Health Emergencies, PASB) and the other by Dr. Jarbas Barbosa (Assistant Director, PASB). Dr. Ugarte presented an overview of the COVID-19 situation in the Americas and of PAHO's response to the pandemic. He noted that the Region remained at the epicenter of the pandemic and continued to account for the highest number of COVID-19 cases and deaths in the world. Following a peak in late July, the numbers of cases and deaths had fallen somewhat, but the numbers had begun to rise again in recent weeks. He pointed out that the sharp rise in cases in some countries in mid-July, notably those of the Caribbean, had coincided with a resumption of international flights. Many countries were therefore seeking recommendations regarding the resumption of non-essential travel, one of the issues that had arisen in the discussions on the proposed resolution on this item.
- 46. Dr. Ugarte then highlighted some aspects of the Organization's response to the pandemic, which was based on nine pillars: *a*) coordination, planning, and monitoring; *b*) risk communication and community engagement; *c*) surveillance, rapid response teams, and case investigation; *d*) points of entry; *e*) national laboratories; *f*) infection prevention and control; *g*) case management; *h*) operational support and logistics; and *i*) maintaining essential health services during the pandemic. He also drew attention to some of the positive results achieved, noting, for example, that all 35 Member States had a functioning multisectoral, multi-partner coordination mechanism for COVID-19, in-country capacity or access to an international laboratory, and a clinical referral system to provide care for patients with COVID-19. In addition, a number of countries had dramatically increased the capacity of their intensive care units, thanks to which the proportion of deaths among COVID-19 patients had declined.
- 47. Nevertheless, a number of challenges remained, in particular with regard to surveillance capacity, decision-making related to measures to mitigate risks associated

with the resumption of non-essential international travel, laboratory capacity, implementation of infection prevention and control practices, case management, procurement and distribution of personal protective equipment and diagnostic supplies, and maintenance of essential health services during the pandemic and beyond. Another major challenge was the implementation and maintenance of non-pharmaceutical measures, which had succeeded in flattening the epidemic curve and delaying its peak, but had also created a false sense of security, which had caused people to let down their guard and led to pressure to relax the measures adopted.

- 48. Concluding his presentation, Dr. Ugarte said that the Bureau expected that there would be recurring waves and outbreaks in countries and subregions in the coming months, occurring simultaneously or at different points in time, as countries progressively reopened their economies. To jointly tackle COVID-19 in the Americas, the Bureau proposed that action should be strengthened in four key areas: *a)* leadership, stewardship, and governance; *b)* epidemic intelligence; *c)* health systems and service delivery networks; and *d)* emergency operations response and supply chains. The principal measures and activities to be implemented were described in Document CD58/6.
- 49. Dr. Barbosa then presented a broader description of some of the challenges that the Region faced in responding to the pandemic and provided an update on progress in developing a vaccine. He pointed out that the Region was grappling not only with a public health crisis but also with an economic and social crisis. As a result of the pandemic, economic growth in Latin America and the Caribbean was expected to decline and poverty and extreme poverty were expected to increase significantly. Consequently, more than a decade of growth could be lost and progress in reducing poverty could be set back by 14 years.
- 50. Maintaining the continuity of priority public health programs while continuing to battle the pandemic was another important challenge. Surveys had shown significant disruptions in various services, including antenatal care, family planning services, immunization, and diagnosis and treatment of NCDs. At the same time, the pandemic had increased the need for some services, most notably mental health services. Countries had adopted various strategies, including triaging and telemedicine, to enable health services to continue operating.
- 51. Dr. Barbosa pointed out that the pandemic had highlighted the need for policies to eliminate the longstanding inequities that existed in the Region, noting that certain population groups—indigenous and Afrodescendent populations, for example—had been disproportionately affected. The pandemic had also revealed weaknesses and challenges with regard to information systems for health, including a lack of interoperability for real-time data access and sharing, lack of connectivity, and outdated legislation and regulations relating to telemedicine and contact tracing.
- 52. Dr. Barbosa outlined some of the actions called for in the proposed resolution annexed to Document CD58/6, underlining in particular the need to initiate preparatory activities in anticipation of a COVID-19 vaccine and develop guidance to ensure equity in

the global allocation of COVID-19 therapeutics and vaccines. He also highlighted the need to strengthen the response capacity of the first level of care and identify access barriers and implement strategies to provide coverage to populations in conditions of vulnerability. He then drew attention to some of the lessons learned from the experience of the pandemic, notably the need to strengthen information systems, consolidate comprehensive and universal social protection systems, reduce the dependency of Latin American and Caribbean countries on imported medical products in order to better equip them to confront future health crises, and strengthen interregional solidarity.

- 53. In conclusion, Dr. Barbosa presented an update on COVID-19 vaccine development, noting that 10 of the 191 candidate vaccines had reached phase 3 of the clinical trial process as of 28 September 2020 and that a number of countries in the Americas were participating in the trials. He also outlined the steps that the Bureau was taking to support Member States in engaging with global initiatives such as the Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator and to ensure affordable access to the vaccine through the COVID-19 Vaccines Global Access (COVAX) Facility. He reported that PAHO was working with the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the Gavi Alliance to develop an overall procurement strategy and was providing technical cooperation to assist countries in preparing for the introduction of the vaccine. He emphasized that the Bureau would continue to work with vaccine suppliers to ensure access after the acute phase of the pandemic.
- 54. In the Directing Council's discussion of this item, delegates applauded PAHO's leadership of the response to the pandemic in the Americas and expressed appreciation for the critical resources, support, and technical advice it had provided to countries. Delegates also expressed thanks to other countries for their support. Several delegates noted their countries' need for ongoing support and guidance as they continued to grapple with the health, economic, and social impacts of the pandemic. The need for guidance on the resumption of non-essential international travel, in particular, was highlighted. Such guidance was considered especially crucial for countries whose economies depend heavily on tourism. The need for tools to assess surge capacity requirements was also noted.
- 55. Numerous delegates described the measures their countries had implemented in response to the pandemic, with several noting the importance of community-based approaches to risk communication, prevention, detection of cases, contact tracing, and surveillance. It was considered essential to maintain control measures and react quickly to increases in case numbers in order to prevent successive waves of disease. One delegate highlighted the benefits of a syndromic approach to surveillance of viral respiratory illnesses in general, rather than a focus on a single disease. The Delegates of Cuba and Venezuela noted that political and economic measures imposed by the United States had hindered their access to medicines, supplies, and equipment for patient care. The Delegate of the United States said that her Government regularly authorized the export of medicines, medical equipment, and other humanitarian supplies to Cuba and that it maintained several exemptions under its Venezuela sanctions program to facilitate humanitarian support.

- 56. Many delegates underlined the importance of strengthening and enhancing the resilience of health systems, not only to deal with the current situation, but also to be prepared to contend with future pandemics and other health emergencies. Numerous delegates also stressed the need for a multisectoral, whole-of-government approach in order to address the pandemic's social and economic consequences as well as its health-related impacts. The importance of maintaining health services such as immunization and of ensuring continuity of care for health problems other than COVID-19 was also noted. A number of delegates remarked on the need to strengthen mental health services in response to the upsurge in mental health problems that had arisen in connection with the pandemic.
- 57. It was pointed out that, while the pandemic had caused enormous damage, it had also created opportunities. One delegate observed that the response to the pandemic had strengthened the relationships of ministries of health with private-sector players and civil society and that those relationships could be leveraged to accelerate and expand work on other public health issues, such as NCDs, childhood obesity, violence, and mental health. Another delegate expressed the hope that the greatly increased international policy collaboration that had occurred during the pandemic would remain as a positive legacy of the situation. Various delegates commented that the response capacity of their countries' health systems had been substantially increased as a result of the pandemic.
- 58. Delegates stressed the importance of adherence to the IHR and of timely and transparent sharing of accurate information. The importance of developing and maintaining IHR core capacities was also emphasized. One delegate noted that his country had not closed its borders, in line with IHR, which called on States Parties to avoid unnecessary interference with international traffic and trade. He pointed out that border closures were unlikely to help curb transmission, given the nature of the disease and the phenomenon of globalization.
- 59. Collective effort, unity, solidarity, and multilateral cooperation were considered essential in order to end the pandemic. Delegates underscored the need to ensure equitable access to medicines and vaccines for COVID-19, with many noting that their countries were participating in the COVAX Facility. The Bureau was urged to strive to ensure timely access to safe and effective vaccines at the lowest possible prices. It was also asked to support countries in formulating immunization plans, strengthening their cold chains, and reinforcing their immunization information systems. A delegate pointed out that, in preparation for the introduction of a COVID-19 vaccine, it would be important to continue working to discredit the myths that fuel vaccine refusal.
- 60. Representatives of various non-State actors (NSAs) stressed the need to ensure continued care for persons with chronic noncommunicable diseases, pointing out that such diseases put people at higher risk of severe illness and death if they contracted COVID-19. The NSA representatives also emphasized the need for evidence-based information to guide decision- and policymaking, transparency regarding vaccine research and development costs, sharing of technology, and equitable and affordable access to COVID-19 medicines and vaccines. Several also underlined the need to address

longstanding inequalities and inequities that had been exposed and exacerbated by the pandemic.

- 61. Strong support was expressed for the lines of action recommended in Document CD58/6, although it was suggested that PAHO's COVID-19 response should incorporate a stronger analysis of the differential impact of the pandemic on women and girls and on adolescents and young people. It was also recommended that future guidance on the response should be in line with Resolution WHA65.8, on the outcome of the World Conference on Social Determinants of Health, which called for action to reduce health inequities. Support was also voiced for the proposed resolution included in the document, although a number of amendments were submitted to reflect comments made during the discussion.
- 62. Dr. Ugarte noted that PAHO had been working closely with WHO and numerous other partners in various sectors since the start of the pandemic. Bureau staff in all departments and areas, in the country offices, and in the specialized centers had been available constantly to support Member States, both technically and administratively. He pointed out, however, that the staff could do their work effectively only if they had transparent information from all countries.
- 63. Dr. Barbosa commended Member States on their responses to the pandemic, but noted that many challenges remained to be overcome. He also highlighted the need to evaluate the measures implemented in order to be better prepared to deal with future emergencies.
- 64. The Director, affirming that the pandemic was a multifaceted crisis requiring a multisectoral response, said that the Bureau had been pleased and privileged to accompany Member States in their battle against COVID-19 and would continue to work with national authorities to provide evidence-based guidelines to support policy decisions and actions at the national level. It would also work with Member States to strengthen solidarity and the sharing of experience and best practices; to facilitate access to technology, including vaccine technology; and to build stronger, better-financed, more resilient, and more equitable health systems. She noted in that connection that the Bureau had launched a repository that was collecting information on guidelines, challenges, actions taken, lessons learned, and best practices. She believed that the Organization had a responsibility to organize such information, both as a historical record and for the use and benefit of future generations.
- 65. An informal consultation took place to review the various proposed amendments to the resolution contained in Document CD58/6 and reach consensus on the final text. The amended resolution (Resolution CD58.R9) was then adopted by the Council.

#### PAHO Governance Reform (Documents CD58/7 and Add. I)

66. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had welcomed the proposal on governance reform, which had been put forward by the United States of America with a view to strengthening the management

of technical cooperation projects funded by voluntary contributions. Executive Committee Members had seen the proposal as a means of strengthening risk management, transparency, and accountability and protecting the Organization from potential financial, legal, operational, technical, and reputational risks associated with projects funded by voluntary contributions. The Executive Committee had agreed, however, that emergency projects related to disease outbreaks and humanitarian or other crisis response should be exempt from the review process so as not to delay emergency response activities. The Executive Committee had requested the Director to conduct a review of risk assessment, management criteria and frameworks, and recommended that the Directing Council adopt a resolution requesting the Director to seek recommendations from the Executive Committee on any proposed technical cooperation project funded by voluntary contributions that was expected to require an annual expenditure or receipt of funds exceeding \$25 million or that might entail a high level of institutional risk.

- 67. Mr. Gerald Anderson (Director of Administration, PASB) explained that the purpose of the proposal on governance reform was to refine and strengthen the rules and procedures that the Bureau had already established to consider the risks associated with proposed voluntary cooperation agreements. Document CD58/7 included a proposed resolution outlining a new procedure relating to the largest and highest-risk voluntary contribution project proposals. The document also reported on the internal and external assessments of existing rules and procedures that had been conducted at the request of the Executive Committee. Mr. Anderson noted that a report on the internal assessment was to be presented to the Executive Committee at its 167th Session in September 2020.
- 68. He informed the Council that, for the external assessment, the Bureau had engaged an independent expert whose report appeared in Document CD58/7, Add. I. The report included 17 recommendations for strengthening the Bureau's risk management process for voluntary contribution projects. The Bureau had formed a working group, which was reviewing the recommendations and would prepare an action plan based thereon. An update on actions taken and lessons learned would be presented to the Executive Committee at its 168th Session in June 2021. The areas of focus for the action plan were described in paragraphs 5 to 7 of Document CD58/7. The revisions to be made to the policy framework, oversight mechanisms, and project cycle procedures for voluntary contribution projects would ensure that all high-risk projects were identified and that the associated risks were documented and considered by senior management prior to the conclusion of grant agreements.
- 69. In the ensuing discussion, delegates voiced solid support for the governance reform proposal, which was seen as a means of improving risk management and strengthening transparency and accountability. Delegates expressed appreciation to the Government of the United States for putting forward the proposal and to the Bureau for undertaking the assessments of existing risk management procedures.
- 70. It was considered essential to protect the Organization from financial, legal, and reputational risks that might damage its prestige. It was suggested that the Office of the Legal Counsel should be more involved in identifying the risks associated with projects

funded by voluntary contributions and in project control and oversight. In addition, it was considered necessary to strengthen staff hotlines and whistleblower protection so that staff would be willing to speak up if they became aware of project-related risks. A delegate reaffirmed his delegation's view—initially expressed during the 166th Session of the Executive Committee—that Member States should have the opportunity to arrive at a common understanding of what was meant by "institutional risk" and reiterated his delegation's request that the Bureau should formulate and present to the Governing Bodies a proposed definition and a set of impartial criteria for determining what might constitute such a risk.

- 71. Most delegates endorsed the recommendations formulated by the external expert, particularly those relating to national voluntary contributions and to the reestablishment of a project support unit within the Bureau. It was suggested that the Bureau should develop a timetable for implementing the recommendations of the external expert and for reporting to the Governing Bodies on their implementation.
- 72. However, the Delegate of Brazil pointed out that the analysis and recommendations of the external consultant focused heavily on the risks associated with projects funded by national voluntary contributions and presented such projects, particularly those carried out in Brazil, in a negative light. He also noted that the recommendations focused almost exclusively on financial risks, ignoring other types of institutional risks. His delegation did not believe that the recommendations should be implemented automatically without considering the deficiencies of the analysis and called on the Bureau to develop risk management criteria that would be applicable to all types of risks and projects funded by all types of voluntary contributions.
- 73. The Delegate of Cuba said that the delegation of the United States had politicized the work of the Council and attempted to damage Cuba's relations with PAHO by imposing an external review of the Mais Médicos project without such a review having been approved by the Governing Bodies. He noted that Cuba had not been informed in advance of the review, despite having been one of the main actors involved in the project.
- 74. Delegates generally supported a stronger oversight role for the Executive Committee in reviewing projects entailing high levels of expenditure or institutional risk to PAHO. However, one delegate cautioned that it was important for Member States to trust the executive management of the Bureau and not to try to micromanage the Bureau's work. She pointed out that the assessments undertaken had shown that a solid framework for the design of voluntary contribution projects was in place. Another delegate expressed concern about the costs that that the project review and risk management process would have for the Organization, especially in view of the resource constraints it faced. She also asked

  \$25 million had been determined to be the expenditure level that would require a review
- \$25 million had been determined to be the expenditure level that would require a review of a project by the Executive Committee.
- 75. Mr. Anderson explained that the \$25 million threshold for review of projects had been decided during the Executive Committee's deliberations on the governance reform

proposal. During those discussions, concerns had been expressed about the potential costs to the Bureau of reviewing and preparing reports for the Executive Committee on all voluntary contribution projects, regardless of size. A threshold of \$25 million had been considered a reasonable level to protect against excessive costs.

- 76. He noted that the internal working group had conducted some preliminary work on an information technology system that would enable the Bureau to manage the risks associated with voluntary contribution projects efficiently. The working group was also developing a timeline for the implementation of the recommendations of the external expert, which would be presented to the Executive Committee in June 2021. The group would establish criteria for risk management of proposals and would implement a consistent process to ensure that the legal advisor, the risk management adviser, and all other key officials within the Bureau were involved in the process of considering new proposals.
- 77. The Director assured the Council that the Bureau recognized the sovereignty of Member States in governing the organization of PAHO and welcomed the proposed governance reforms aimed at enhancing transparency and accountability and strengthening risk management as it related to projects funded by both national voluntary contributions and voluntary contributions. She looked forward to presenting the plan of action for the implementation of the recommendations of the external expert.
- 78. At the same time, she did not wish Member States to be left with the impression that the Bureau had no mechanisms in place to ensure transparency and accountability. On the contrary, it demonstrated its accountability to Member States every year through the annual report of the Director, the financial report of the Director, and the reports of the Audit Committee, the External Auditor, the Internal Auditor, the Investigations Office, the Ethics Office, and the Department of Human Resources Management. Moreover, the Bureau regularly presented reports on the plans of action and other initiatives approved by the Governing Bodies and it actively engaged Member States in the development, implementation, and evaluation of the Organization's five-year strategic plans and biennial program budgets. Her aim, and that of the other members of Executive Management, was to make PAHO the most transparent and accountable organization in the world.
- 79. Responding to the comments made by the Delegate of Cuba, the Director explained that the review of the Mais Médicos project was an administrative review of the work of the Bureau; it was not an audit of PAHO or of any Member State and therefore had not required the approval of the Organization's Governing Bodies. Nevertheless, she had endeavored to inform the countries that had participated directly in the project and had sought advice from other Member States.
- 80. The Directing Council adopted Resolution CD58.R3, requesting the Director to seek and fully consider recommendations from the Executive Committee on any proposed technical cooperation project funded by voluntary contributions expected to require an annual expenditure or receipt of funds exceeding \$25 million or that might entail a high level of institutional risk.

# Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the Pan American Health Organization Strategic Priorities (Document CD58/8)

- Ms. Stacy Goring (Barbados, Representative of the Executive Committee) reported 81. that, during its Special Session on 29 May 2020, the Executive Committee had examined a report on the financial crisis caused by delays in the payment of assessed contributions and considered several proposed measures for dealing with the situation. The Bureau had described the measures that had already been taken to reduce costs and presented several proposals for further cost reductions, together with several borrowing options that would enable the Organization to continue functioning until the end of the year. The Bureau had also suggested that the Executive Committee should form a working group of Member States to review the Organization's strategic priorities and budget allocations for 2020-2021, bearing in mind that the delays in receipt of assessed contributions would most likely make it impossible to fulfill those priorities. The Executive Committee had authorized the Director to borrow up to \$15 million from the Master Capital Investment Fund in order to finance expenses under the Program Budget for 2020-2021 and to implement a temporary staff furlough scheme as a cost-saving measure. The Executive Committee had also agreed to establish the Member State Working Group and had asked the Director, in consultation with the Working Group, to prepare a broad package of austerity measures.
- 82. Mr. Dean Chambliss (Director, Department of Planning and Budget, PASB) summarized the content of Document CD58/8 and its Annex B, which reported on the current financial situation of PAHO and the austerity measures implemented. He noted that, in the light of a significant improvement in the Organization's financial situation in July 2020 (see the report on collection of assessed contributions, paragraphs 97 to 104 below), the Member State Working Group had reoriented its work, a summary of which was presented, together with the Group's recommendations, in Annex A of the Document CD58/8. The Bureau's internal deliberations had also shifted, focusing less on immediate, short-term cost reductions and more on ensuring a sustainable financial future for PAHO, including keeping prudent cost-containment measures in place pending the receipt of additional assessed contribution payments. He pointed out that the document did not include the detailed report requested by the Executive Committee on the consequences that would ensue if the Organization did not receive the assessed contributions due nor did it have access to external borrowing, as the request was no longer applicable.
- 83. Providing an update on the information presented in the document, Mr. Chambliss reported that the amount of assessed contributions owed as of 21 September 2020 had been \$87.8 million, substantially less than the \$164.6 million outstanding at the end of April 2020. The reduction was due to the receipt of a large part of the arrears from 2019 as well as a portion of the 2020 contributions. Nevertheless, the balance due was notably higher than in previous years.
- 84. Mr. Chambliss recalled that, in light of the deficit in flexible funding projected in April 2020, expenses had been heavily curtailed through cost-containment or austerity measures. However, the situation had improved considerably in mid-August, and the

projected budget deficit had fallen from \$85.4 million to \$29.5 million, with no cash flow deficit. If the financial situation continued to improve, it might be possible to progressively ease the austerity measures in place. In any case, he assured the Council that the Bureau was well positioned to ensure financial solvency throughout the 2020-2021 biennium, while adjusting its technical cooperation delivery to the new reality. Given the financial costs of the COVID-19 crisis, however, the Bureau foresaw a challenging environment in the 2022-2023 biennium.

- 85. Regarding the technical cooperation implications of the financial situation, Mr. Chambliss noted that the austerity measures implemented, together with the COVID-19 emergency, had significantly affected the Organization's capacity to deliver technical cooperation. Among other impacts, programs heavily dependent on flexible funds had seen their capacity greatly reduced and filling of key vacant positions responsible for core functions had been put on hold. However, the Bureau had adopted new and innovative modalities of delivering technical cooperation, which, together with cost savings in some areas, had somewhat offset the activity reductions resulting from the austerity measures.
- 86. Mr. Nicolas Palanque (Canada, Chair of the Member State Working Group) presented the report of the Member State Working Group established to review PAHO's strategic priorities for 2020-2021. He noted that the original aim of the Working Group had been to provide input and advice to the Director regarding the strategic priorities to be pursued by the Organization in the worst-case funding scenario. The Working Group had also been tasked with considering revisions to the strategic priorities as a consequence of the COVID-19 crisis, if deemed necessary. As the worst-case funding scenario had been averted following the receipt of a large assessed contribution payment in mid-July 2020, the Working Group had decided to focus its work on reviewing priorities in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Bureau had been requested to present a review of the potential public health and economic consequences of the pandemic in the Region and its effects on PAHO technical cooperation with Member States. The Working Group had concluded that the Strategic Plan 2020-2025 priorities should remain in place, but that the Bureau should continue adjusting its technical cooperation in order to strengthen its response to the current emergency, preserve and boost public health capacities during the protracted crisis, and strengthen the resilience of national health systems.
- 87. The Working Group recommended that any adjustments to the provision of technical cooperation to Member States should be implemented under the delegated authority of the Director. The Working Group also recommended the formation of an informal ad hoc group to contribute to the analysis of current and future technical priorities for the COVID-19 response and associated public health challenges.
- 88. In the discussion that followed, delegates welcomed the improvement in the PAHO's financial situation and expressed appreciation to the Bureau for the steps taken to enable the Organization to continue functioning despite the severe financial constraints it had faced. At the same time, delegates acknowledged that the Organization's financial situation remained precarious and stressed the need for Member States to pay their assessed contributions in full and on time in order to ensure a sustainable financial future for PAHO.

It was considered especially critical to provide the Organization with the financial wherewithal to enable it to continue supporting Member States in the response to the COVID-19 emergency.

- 89. Delegates thanked the Working Group for its work and expressed firm support for its recommendations, including the recommendations concerning resumption of the normal corporate planning and budgeting processes and recognition of the Director's authority to make decisions on the Organization's structure and the reallocation of resources to ensure that that the Bureau could continue to respond to Member States' technical cooperation needs. Nevertheless, the Director was encouraged to continue applying austerity and cost-containment measures and to continue using tools that had proven effective during the pandemic—such as virtual meetings—to generate additional administrative efficiencies.
- 90. A delegate suggested that the Bureau should, in consultation with Member States, identify measures for further enhancing efficiency and ensuring that resources were directed mainly towards technical cooperation with countries. As part of that process, she suggested that the Director should undertake a review of the organizational structure in order to eliminate duplications of functions at PAHO Headquarters. She requested the Director to present a proposal to the Governing Bodies in that regard. The same delegate stressed the need to ensure that operational costs generated by projects funded by national voluntary contributions did not affect the availability of flexible funds obtained from other sources.
- 91. Firm support was expressed for the formation of an informal ad hoc group to provide a space for technical discussions on the response to COVID-19 and on current and future priorities. A delegate suggested that the Member State Working Group should be converted into a technical advisory group that would explore at a more granular level what PAHO should and should not do to address future financial challenges and public health emergencies and to provide advice on how the Organization could be more effective and efficient. She emphasized that PAHO must focus on Member States' priorities, although she also pointed out that Member States should become more disciplined in terms of what they asked of the Organization.
- 92. Another delegate inquired whether the impact of the cost reduction measures on the Organization's priority countries had been analyzed and whether any distinction would be made in the application of such measures depending on whether or not countries were up to date in meeting their financial obligations.
- 93. Mr. Chambliss said that every effort had been made to protect the priority countries from the impact of the austerity measures implemented and affirmed that there was no relationship between the application of austerity measures and the payment of assessed contributions. He assured the Council that the Bureau intended to keep the austerity measures in place for the remainder of the 2020-2021 biennium and would adjust them as needed in keeping with the financial situation and the receipt of assessed contributions. The Bureau would keep Member States informed about the situation as it evolved.

- 94. He noted that the presentation of the program budget proposal for 2022-2023, to be submitted to the Governing Bodies in 2021, would offer an opportunity to review the unusual experience of the 2020-2021 biennium, both in financial terms and in terms of the response to the COVID-19 crisis. He also noted that a number of internal initiatives were under way to ensure that PAHO was fit for purpose, including a review of the Bureau's structure. The outcome of those initiatives would be reflected in the 2022-2023 program budget proposal.
- 95. The Director thanked the Member States that had paid their assessed contributions and encouraged those that had not to do so or to enter into a payment plan. She also thanked the countries that had participated in the Member State Working Group. She confirmed that the Bureau would take action on the formation of the ad hoc group, noting that the deliberations of that group could feed into the proposed working group of Member States for the development of the next biennium planning. She assured Member States that she was aware of the need to ensure that the Organization remained fit for purpose and became more relevant, efficient, and effective in the delivery of technical cooperation.
- 96. The Directing Council took note of the report.

#### **Administrative and Financial Matters**

# Report on the Collection of Assessed Contributions (Documents CD58/9 and Add. I and Add. II)

- 97. Ms. Stacy Goring (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had been informed that, as of June 2020, outstanding assessed contributions due from Member States, Participating States, and Associate Members had amounted to \$160.3 million, including \$66.1 million that remained outstanding for 2019. During the first half of 2020, only \$33.9 million had been collected. One Member State had been in arrears to the extent that it could be subject to the application of the provisions of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution. She added that the level of unpaid assessed contributions was unprecedented in the history of the Organization and that the situation had brought PAHO to the brink of insolvency. Cost-containment measures and other steps had been taken to enable PAHO to continue operating, albeit at a minimal level, until the end of 2020. However, the Executive Committee had been told that, unless a significant proportion of the outstanding assessed contributions was received, far more radical steps would be required in 2021 to curtail the Organization's activities and reduce its staff.
- 98. Mr. Xavier Puente Chaudé (Director, Department of Financial Resources Management, PASB) confirmed that one Member State was in arrears to the extent that it was now subject to Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution. He reported that 23 Member States, Participating States, and Associate Members had paid in full and six had made partial payments for 2020. However, 13 States had yet to make any payments at all for 2020, even though assessed contributions were due on 1 January of each year.
- 99. As of 28 September, the Organization had collected \$106.5 million in assessed contributions, \$67.7 million of which related to amounts outstanding from prior years. Only

\$38.8 million, or 37%, of the contributions due for 2020 had been collected. The Organization was facing the second highest shortfall in assessed contributions in its history, with \$87.7 million still outstanding for current and prior years. As a result of the dire financial situation, the Bureau had been forced to utilize the entirety of the \$25 million in the Working Capital Fund and \$24 million from other unrestricted funds, in order to meet its financial obligations. Mr. Puente Chaudé emphasized that any significant delays in collecting assessed contributions seriously affected the Organization's capacity to carry out its activities and urged States with pending contributions to pay them in an expeditious manner.

- 100. Dr. Carlos Alvarenga (El Salvador, President of the Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution) reported that the Working Party had reviewed the status of assessed contribution collections and had found that one Member State, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, was more than two full years in arrears in the payment of its assessments and was therefore subject to the suspension of its voting privileges, pursuant to Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution. The Working Group had considered information provided by the Member State concerned, according to which its failure to pay was due to conditions beyond its control. The Working Group had been informed that the Member State had submitted a 20-year payment plan to the Bureau on 24 September 2020. The Bureau had indicated that it had yet to discuss the proposed plan with the Member State due to its late submission and it had never in its history approved a payment plan of such length.
- 101. Dr. Alvarenga added that the Working Party had also noted the recommendations made in Resolution CE166.R4, adopted by the Executive Committee during its 166th Session in June 2020, and the serious impact that the non-payment of assessed contributions was having on the Organization and its financial stability. Accordingly, the Working Party had recommended by a majority vote that the suspension of voting privileges provided under Article 6.B should be applied, subject to review at a future session of the Directing Council. One member of the Working Party had dissented, finding that the failure of the Member State to pay its contributions was due to conditions beyond its control and calling on all Member States to find a way to facilitate the transfer of the necessary funds.
- 102. In the discussion that followed, several delegates expressed their concern about the late payment of assessed contributions and the resulting consequences for PAHO's operations and, indeed, for its very survival, although one delegate pointed out that the current status of contributions was comparable to that of previous years. It was underscored that delays in the payment of contributions not only jeopardized the Organization's ability to meet its mandate and implement its program of work in the Region, including at country level, but also undermined its capacity to provide critical support in the current context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Member States were therefore exhorted to pay their assessed contributions in full and on time. Several delegates noted that their Governments had paid their assessed contributions, despite the enormous economic costs inflicted by the pandemic.

- 103. The Director commended those Members States that had paid their assessed contributions. She noted that the budgetary process assumed that all payments would be made by 1 January and pointed out that the lack of predictability as to the timing of payments made it difficult for the Bureau to manage the Organization's resources appropriately and ensure that it could provide technical cooperation when needed.
- 104. The Council adopted Resolution CD58.R8, expressing appreciation to those Member States that had made payments in 2020, urging all Member States in arrears to pay their outstanding balances as soon as possible, and requesting the Director to notify the Delegation of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela that, pursuant to Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution, its voting rights had been suspended.

# Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor for 2019 (Official Document 360)

105. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had been informed in June that the Financial Report of the Director and the Report of the External Auditor for 2019 had not yet been published, the reason being that the level of outstanding assessed contributions as of the publication deadline in April 2020 had been so high that the External Auditor would most likely have issued a qualified audit opinion. In order to avoid the potential negative consequences of an unfavorable opinion, the External Auditor had agreed to delay issuing an opinion until there was greater clarity regarding the Organization's financial situation and the recoverability of the outstanding contributions. Executive Committee members had acknowledged the reasons for the delay in publishing the Financial Report but had expressed concern about the lack of financial information for 2019 and the implications of the delay in terms of the perceived transparency and credibility of the Organization and its accountability to Member States. The Bureau had been asked to keep Member States informed of the Organization's financial situation, including details about where expenditure levels were being reduced as a result of the non-payment of assessed contributions.

#### Financial Report of the Director for 2019

- 106. Mr. Xavier Puente Chaudé (Director, Department of Financial Resources Management, PASB) presented an overview of the Financial Report of the Director, including figures on total revenue and expenditure, collection of assessed contributions, voluntary contributions, and procurement on behalf of Member States. He confirmed that the audit opinion had been delayed as there was concern as to whether PAHO continued to enjoy the financial support of its Member States and remained a "going concern." However, following the receipt of a significant portion of the outstanding assessed contributions in July 2020, the Organization had finally received a clean, unqualified audit opinion.
- 107. Total revenue in 2019 had amounted to \$1,194 million, a 14% decrease with respect to 2018, which was due primarily to the reduction of national voluntary contributions from Brazil. Program budget revenue for the year had totaled \$284.8 million, which was comparable to the total for 2017, the second year of the previous biennium. In that regard,

- Mr. Puente Chaudé noted that revenue in the second year of a biennium was normally higher than in the first year. He also noted that miscellaneous income had been higher in 2019 than in 2018 or 2017, owing to the favorable evolution of exchange rates. Voluntary contributions had also increased, rising from \$73.3 million in 2018 to \$95.7 million in 2019. The Organization had ended the biennium with a revenue surplus of \$7.5 million and a budget surplus of \$5.7 million. The programming of the two surpluses was discussed by the Council under separate agenda items—see paragraphs 131 to 140 below.
- 108. With regard to the collection of assessed contributions, Mr. Puente Chaudé reported that receipts of current-year and prior-year assessed contributions in 2019 had totaled only \$30.2 million and \$35.7 million, respectively, bringing the total collected to \$65.9 million, 37% less than in 2018, when the total had been \$104.9 million. Arrears at the end of 2019 had amounted to \$88.9 million, double the amount of arrears at the end of 2018. As a result of that situation, it had been necessary to curtail or postpone numerous activities, and the entirety of the Working Capital Fund and the majority of the Special Fund for Program Support Costs had been expended to finance the Organization's operations.
- 109. Turning to revenue from non-program budget sources, Mr. Puente Chaudé reported that revenue from voluntary contributions had risen from \$73.3 million in 2018 to \$95.7 million in 2019. Both PAHO and WHO voluntary contributions had grown. National voluntary contributions, on the other hand, had fallen significantly, mostly as a result of the decrease in revenue in 2019, mainly due to the reduction of activities in the Mais Médicos project. Funds received for procurement on behalf of Member States had also increased, The Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines had accounted for the vast majority of procurement-related revenue: \$761.2 million out of a total of \$833.7 million. That total was 23% higher than in 2018 and was the highest amount of procurement-related revenue ever recorded in the Organization's history.
- 110. Expenditures for 2019 had totaled \$1,189 million, versus \$1,369 million in 2018, resulting in a 13% decrease. As in previous years, purchases of supplies, commodities, and materials had accounted for the largest share of expenditure in 2019. The vast majority of those purchases had been made on behalf of Member States through the Organization's procurement funds. Travel expenses had decreased by 29% with respect to 2018. Travel for purposes of technical cooperation had accounted for the majority of the total travel expenditure.
- 111. Lastly, Mr. Puente Chaudé reported that the net staff health insurance liability in 2019 had totaled \$270.3 million, versus \$198.8 million in 2018. He explained that the change was largely the result of a reduction in the discount rate, which in turn had resulted in a change in the actuarial valuation of the liability.

Report of the External Auditor for 2019

112. Mr. Damian Brewitt (Financial Audit Director–International, National Audit Office of the United Kingdom and Northern Ireland) introduced the report of the External Auditor, confirming that the Auditor's opinion on the Organization's financial statements had been

unqualified, meaning that the audit had revealed no errors or weaknesses that had been considered material to the accuracy, completeness, or validity of the statements. The audit had nevertheless identified some areas where controls could be further enhanced, and the auditors had made recommendations aimed at enhancing the content of the financial report and statements.

- 113. Highlighting various findings and recommendations with regard to financial management, governance and internal control, and human resources management, Mr. Brewitt noted that the COVID-19 pandemic had added to the existing financial pressures on the Organization and said that the External Auditor believed that efficiency savings must be an integral part of managing those pressures. The External Auditor had noted that steps had been taken to increase efficiency and would review progress in that regard over the coming year. The External Auditor also believed that there remained scope for a more strategic approach towards PAHO's estate. In particular, the Bureau should take account of the lessons learned from new ways of working during the pandemic and consider the future opportunity costs of refurbishing buildings, the availability of funds to renovate and maintain buildings in the medium to long term, and the potential to realize the value of capital assets.
- 114. The most notable recommendation in the area of financial reporting related to the need for the Bureau to review its approach to accounting for receivable assets to ensure that the financial statements reflected their recoverability. Under the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), the fair value of assets must be reported. The External Auditor therefore recommended that the Bureau should ensure that Member States were not involved in accounting judgements relating to the value of outstanding debt. To enhance transparency, the External Auditor had highlighted the potential to further develop the content of the financial report of the Director in order to provide a broader view of performance, more closely aligning the reporting of the use of resources and the key outcomes.
- 115. Regarding governance and internal control, the External Auditor noted that, while many key aspects of good governance were present, greater use could be made of the functionalities of the PASB Management Information System (PMIS) to enhance compliance. To that end, the Bureau should ensure continued investment in training of PMIS users. There was also room for the enhancement of risk management, particularly at the local and project management levels. The External Auditor remained concerned that PAHO had not yet operationalized policies it had developed in respect of anti-fraud risk assessment and response plans.
- 116. The External Auditor had noted limited progress in implementing the Bureau's human resources strategy, known as the People Strategy, and recommended that the Strategy should be reviewed regularly to ensure that it remained relevant. Performance review should be linked to the competence-based approach adopted, and compliance with the requirement for regular staff appraisals should be enforced. Greater emphasis should also be placed on compliance with mandatory training requirements, particularly in areas such communicating the organizational approach to harassment. In addition, the use of

consultants and other non-staff personnel—some of whom remained in their posts for 10 years or more—should be reviewed.

- 117. In conclusion, Mr. Brewitt expressed concern about the pace of implementation of past audit recommendations. He noted that, while PAHO's financial position and COVID-19 had impacted on management capacity, the External Auditor believed that there was scope for a clearer articulation of how the Bureau would implement recommendations. The Auditor also believed that greater scrutiny of implementation plans by the Audit Committee could provide important insights and an opportunity to review the continued relevance of recommendations.
- 118. Member States welcomed the unqualified audit opinion, which was seen as a significant achievement in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and the financial challenges that PAHO had experienced. The technical achievements highlighted in the report were also welcomed. Concern was again expressed about the delay in releasing the report, which in the view of one delegate had seriously impacted the principle of transparency. The External Auditor believed that there was a need for a more robust transparency framework that would enable Member States to have greater clarity regarding the administrative and financial decisions taken by the Bureau.
- 119. It was noted that, while the Organization had experienced some financial instability in 2020, it had ended 2019 in a good financial position. Notwithstanding that positive result, however, the Bureau was encouraged to continue seeking efficiencies and pursue cost-saving measures. It was pointed out that, while travel expenses had decreased—which was seen as a positive trend—there had been a significant increase in staff and general operational costs. The Bureau was encouraged to find ways to reduce staff-related costs, including long-term employee benefit liabilities. It was suggested that that the Director should develop and present to the Governing Bodies an austerity plan that would include a proposal for reducing non-priority expenses and eliminating duplications in the organizational structure of PAHO Headquarters. At the same time, concern was expressed about the low level of assessed contribution collections, and the importance of paying contributions in full, on time, and without conditions was emphasized.
- 120. The Bureau was urged to implement all of the External Auditor's recommendations, in particular those relating to risk analysis and mitigation, anti-fraud policies, and human resources. It was considered especially important to address the issue of harassment and to enforce mandatory training requirements. The need for more rigorous and transparent processes for the recruitment of non-staff personnel was also highlighted, as was the need for a stronger succession plan.
- 121. The Delegate of Brazil, noting the large reduction in national voluntary contributions resulting from the conclusion of the Mais Médicos project, pointed out that such projects were carried out internally by a country using its own resources and that the recent downward trend in national voluntary contributions had not been responsible for the Organization's financial difficulties, which were due to a variety of factors. He also noted that projects funded by national voluntary contributions did not entail any particular

financial risks for the Organization, nor were the risks associated with such projects greater than those associated with projects funded by voluntary contributions.

- 122. Mr. Puente Chaudé explained that the delay in closing some of the recommendations was due in part to the fact that the External Auditor had wished to have confirmation during the year of the activities undertaken with respect to each recommendation, and in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic it had been difficult to demonstrate how some activities were being carried out. With regard to staff-related costs, he noted that salaries had risen by only 2% to 3% in 2019 and that the increase had been the result of the updating of the actuarial study conducted to determine the staff benefit liability. He also pointed out that expenditure in all areas was generally higher in the second year of a biennium than in the first year. He emphasized that the delay in releasing the financial report was unrelated to a lack of transparency. Until July, the External Auditor had been unable to confirm that PAHO continued to enjoy the financial support of its Member States and would therefore have issued an unfavorable audit opinion. The Bureau had therefore opted to delay the publication of the report in order to avoid the consequences of such an opinion. Mr. Puente Chaudé stressed that the Bureau had worked continually to enhance transparency and accountability to Member States and would continue to do so.
- 123. Mr. Brewitt observed that auditors tended, by nature, to be skeptical and wished to see substantive evidence of the implementation of recommendations. The External Auditor understood that the Organization was operating in challenging times, which might have hindered its progress in implementing some of the recommendations. The External Auditor would conduct another review of progress made towards the implementation of the recommendations in the coming year. Meanwhile, he believed that the Audit Committee had a valuable role to play both in monitoring the implementation of recommendations and in assessing whether they remained relevant.
- 124. The Director expressed thanks to Member States for the trust they had placed in her administration and to the External Auditor for its work with the Bureau to improve its fulfillment of its administrative and managerial responsibilities. She assured Member States that the executive management of the Bureau was firmly committed to maintaining the highest standards of transparency and accountability and to ensuring the implementations of the recommendations of the External Auditor, the Internal Auditor, and the Audit Committee.
- 125. The Directing Council took note of the report.

### Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund (Document CD58/10)

126. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had considered a proposal to raise the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund from \$25 million to \$50 million in order to cover temporary cash shortfalls resulting from delays in the payment of Member States' assessed contributions. The Executive Committee had expressed general support for the proposal, acknowledging the usefulness of the Working Capital Fund to cover temporary cash deficits. At the same time, concern had been voiced about the potential for the proposal to lead to an increase in

spending and a decrease in the funding available for technical cooperation. It had been explained, however, that the Working Capital was used exclusively to cover cash shortfalls and that increasing the authorized level of the Fund would not increase spending. In light of the clarifications provided, the Committee had decided to recommend that the Directing Council approve the proposed increase in the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund.

- 127. Mr. Xavier Puente Chaudé (Director, Department of Financial Resources Management, PASB) confirmed that the sole purpose of the Working Capital Fund was to cover temporary cash shortfalls when there were delays in the receipt of assessed contributions. He explained that the level of contributions outstanding at the end of the fiscal year had been increasing, rising from \$44.4 million in 2017 to \$88.9 million in 2019. The current authorized level of the Working Capital Fund was therefore no longer sufficient. In August, the Bureau had been forced to use not only the entire \$25 million balance in the Working Capital Fund but also \$24 million from other unrestricted funds in order to meet the Organization's financial obligations. The proposed increase in the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund would better enable the Bureau to continue providing technical cooperation when payments of assessed contributions were delayed.
- 128. In the discussion that followed, a delegate restated the concern he had raised during the Session of the Executive Committee in June 2020, namely that the authorized level of the Fund had historically risen as the Organization's budget had increased, which implied an increase in spending. He was also concerned that increasing the balance in the Working Capital Fund could have implications for the Organization's program budget and decrease the amount of money available for technical cooperation activities. To alleviate those concerns, he suggested that the Director should be asked to regularly present a report to the Governing Bodies on the manner in which cash flow shortfalls were covered and the programmatic areas that were financed from the Working Capital Fund. He suggested that the proposed resolution should be amended to include wording to that effect. Another delegate supported that proposal and asked whether the Bureau could also present a plan detailing the proposed use of funds from the Working Capital Fund.
- 129. In response, the Director reiterated that the Working Capital Fund served primarily as a buffer against the late receipt of assessed contributions. She pointed out that the Bureau would have no need to make use of the Working Capital Fund if Member States paid their assessed contributions in a timely manner. She recalled that, in accordance with the Organization's Financial Regulations, assessed contributions were due on 1 January of each year. The shortfalls in funding caused by the delayed payment of contributions by Member States were unpredictable, for which reason it would be difficult to present a plan on the proposed use of the Fund.
- 130. The Directing Council adopted Resolution CD58.R1, as amended, approving an increase in the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund, from \$25 million to \$50 million.

### Programming of the Budget Surplus (Document CD58/11)

- 131. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had been informed that, although the Bureau had estimates of the anticipated budget surplus for the 2018-2019 biennium, it was not able to provide official figures because the External Auditor had not yet certified the Organization's financial statements for 2019. The Bureau had therefore recommended postponing the consideration of the budget surplus until after the Financial Report of the Director and the Report of the External Auditor for 2019 had been published. Accordingly, the Committee had agreed to postpone consideration of the use of the budget surplus until the Directing Council.
- 132. Mr. Dean Chambliss (Director, Department of Planning and Budget, PASB) explained that, according to PAHO Financial Regulation 4.6, any budget surplus was to be used first to replenish the Working Capital Fund to its authorized level. The budget surplus for the 2018-2019 biennium was \$5,737,970.47; as of 31 December 2019, the balance of the Working Capital Fund had been \$21,716,450.37. Since the Directing Council had adopted Resolution CD58.R1, increasing the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund from \$25 million to \$50 million, it was proposed that the entirety of the budget surplus balance should be used to replenish the Working Capital Fund.
- 133. The Directing Council adopted Resolution CD58.R2, approving the allocation of the budget surplus of \$5,737,970.47 to replenish the Working Capital Fund.

### Programming of the Revenue Surplus (Document CD58/12)

- 134. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that, as with the budget surplus (see paragraph 131 above), the Executive Committee had agreed to postpone consideration of the use of the revenue surplus until the Directing Council.
- 135. Mr. Dean Chambliss (Director, Department of Planning and Budget, PASB) explained that, according to PAHO Financial Regulation 4.8, any excess of revenue over the budgeted miscellaneous revenue at the end of a budgetary period was to be considered a revenue surplus and was to be available for use in subsequent financial periods. The total amount available for programming in 2020-2021 from the revenue surplus for the 2018-2019 biennium was \$7,504,914.21. Of that amount, it was proposed to allocate \$4,650,520.21 to the Master Capital Investment Fund, \$1 million of which was earmarked for the Vehicle Replacement Subfund; \$1 million to the PAHO Emergency Epidemic Fund; and \$600,000 to the production of *Health in the Americas*, the Organization's flagship publication. The remaining \$1,254,394 was to be used to replenish the Working Capital Fund.
- 136. In the Council's discussion of this item, a delegate expressed her support for the proposed allocation of the revenue surplus and, in particular, welcomed the decision to allocate some of that amount to the PAHO Emergency Epidemic Fund. Another delegate requested further information as to the rationale for allocating \$1 million to the Vehicle Replacement Subfund. He pointed out that, according to Document CE166/11, in 2019 the Subfund had been used to purchase replacement vehicles for a total cost of \$260,985 and

that, as of 31 December, it still had a balance of \$179,875. He therefore wondered whether the \$1 million might be put to better use elsewhere, such as to further capitalize the PAHO Emergency Epidemic Fund. He also wondered how the allocations being made to the Master Capital Investment Fund in general accorded with the overall roadmap for the implementation of the Master Capital Investment Plan.<sup>5</sup> In addition, he sought more information on the proposed allocation of \$600,000 to the *Health in the Americas* publication.

- 137. Mr. Gerald Anderson (Director of Administration, PASB) recalled that the Vehicle Replacement Subfund had been set up several years earlier to support the implementation of the Vehicle Replacement Plan, which had established a replacement schedule of five years or 75,000 kilometers. However, the amount of funding in the Subfund had not been sufficient for the full implementation of that Plan, and for that reason the Bureau was proposing the \$1 million allocation from the revenue surplus.
- 138. With regard to the Master Capital Investment Plan roadmap, he explained that the recommendation to allocate funding from the revenue surplus to the Master Capital Investment Fund was in keeping with recent practice, aimed at building up sufficient funds to complete the implementation of the Master Capital Investment Plan. He noted that the capital expenditure required to ensure that PAHO Headquarters and PAHO/WHO representative offices were safe, secure, and efficient workspaces had been calculated at approximately \$60 million. In 2019, renovations had been carried out at Headquarters to implement state-of-the-art access controls and thus mitigate security threats, in line with the recommendations of the United Nations Department of Safety and Security. However, no other such projects had been conducted owing to the need to sufficiently capitalize the Master Capital Investment Fund. He added that a new roadmap was to be published in the forthcoming year, with updated costings for the remaining projects to be implemented under the Plan.
- 139. The Director recalled that, at the 29th Pan American Sanitary Conference in 2017, it had been explained that, in addition to its print publication, *Health in the Americas* was being transformed into an interactive online platform (*Health in the Americas*+) that could be regularly updated. The aim was to make *Health in the Americas* more responsive to the real needs of Member States and others seeking reliable information about health in the Region of the Americas. Noting that the print editions of the publication cost up to \$2 million to produce, she explained that the Bureau was requesting \$600,000 from the revenue surplus to improve the Organization's flagship publication, including by enhancing its online platform.
- 140. The Directing Council provided its concurrence to the allocation of the revenue surplus as proposed in Document CD58/12 (Decision CD58[D6]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Document CE156/24, Rev. 1 (2015).

# Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of PAHO (Documents CD58/13 and Add. I)

- 141. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had considered several proposed amendments to the Organization's Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, which were intended to ensure better alignment with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards. In response to queries raised during the Executive Committee's discussion of the item, the Bureau had underscored that the amendments were intended to improve transparency, in line with the recommendations of the External Auditor. It had also noted that information on the status of internal borrowing of funds to cover delays in the payment of assessed contributions would be reported in the financial statements presented to the Governing Bodies. Accordingly, the Executive Committee had adopted Resolution CE166.R2, confirming the amendments to the Financial Rules of PAHO and recommending that the Directing Council approve the amendments to the Financial Regulations.
- 142. Mr. Xavier Puente Chaudé (Director, Department of Financial Resources Management, PASB), outlining the proposed amendments, said that Financial Regulation 13.6 would provide the Director with the authority to impair any receivable, other than assessed contributions, by establishing a reserve for doubtful accounts. Financial Regulation 13.7 would establish the criteria for PAHO Member States to impair outstanding assessed contributions considered to be at risk. He pointed out, however, that those amendments had been proposed in June, before the report of the External Auditor had been published. As detailed in pages 77 and 78 of that report, the External Auditor was of the view that, to be in compliance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards, decisions on impairment of receivable assets for both assessed contributions and other receivables must be considered against objective criteria, and that accounting judgments should be the purview of the Bureau and should not be subject to the decision-making or review processes of Member States. The External Auditor had therefore recommended that the Executive Committee's recommendation to approve the amendments to the Financial Regulations should be reviewed.
- 143. In the Council's discussion of this item, a delegate welcomed the Bureau's efforts to align PAHO's Financial Regulations with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards. He noted that the changes would result in the authority to stipulate a reserve for doubtful accounts related to any assets other than assessed contributions and to establish a reserve for doubtful assessed contributions. He also noted that the Report of the External Auditor stipulated that the International Public Sector Accounting Standards did not differentiate between receivables due from Member States or any other receivable, and instead required an objective assessment based upon experience, known issues, and the circumstances of the debtor to ensure that the statements reported the fair value of the asset. With that in mind, he requested the Bureau to reformulate the amendments to Financial Regulations 13.6 and 13.7 to align them with the External Auditor's recommendations.
- 144. Mr. Xavier Puente Chaudé drew the attention of Member States to Document CD58/13, Add. I, which contained a revised version of the proposed amendments to

Financial Regulations 13.6 and 13.7 that was in accordance with the recommendations of the External Auditor.

- 145. The Director added that the revised version of the text had been drawn up in consultation with the External Auditor.
- 146. The Council adopted Resolution CD58.R7, approving the amendments to the PAHO Financial Regulations pertaining to the impairment of assets, as set forth in Document CD58/13, Add. I.

# Update on the Appointment of the External Auditor of PAHO for 2022-2023 (Document CD58/14)

- 147. Ms. Stacy Goring (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had considered a proposal to reappoint the current External Auditor, the National Audit Office of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, for the 2022-2023 biennium. The Executive Committee had also been informed that past practice had been to extend the appointment of the External Auditor for an additional biennium, subject to its satisfactory performance and willingness to be reappointed, both of which were true in the case of the current External Auditor. Delegates had recognized the high standard of excellence demonstrated by the National Audit Office and expressed their support for its reappointment. It had been pointed out, however, that best practice among international organizations was to limit the appointment of External Auditors to a single term of four to six years that could not immediately be renewed. It had therefore been recommended that the Governing Bodies should consider amending PAHO's Financial Regulations to reflect such term limits.
- 148. Mr. Gerald Anderson (Director of Administration, PASB) affirmed that past practice had been to appoint the External Auditor for two bienniums, with the option of reappointment for an additional biennium. In line with that practice, the Bureau recommended that the appointment of the National Audit Office should be extended for an additional term of two years.
- 149. The Directing Council took note of the report.

# Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public Health Supplies for Member States (Document CD58/15)

150. Hon. Jeffrey Bostic (Representative of the Executive Committee) reported that the Executive Committee had considered a proposal by the Bureau to change the composition the charge assessed on the procurement of public health supplies in order to ensure that the administrative costs associated with operating the Organization's procurement funds were fully covered. Delegates had expressed appreciation for the Bureau's efforts to ascertain the true operational costs of supporting the procurement activities financed through the funds and acknowledged the need to ensure that the Bureau was able to recoup those costs. It had been suggested that it might be preferable to raise the charge by 0.5%, which would make it possible to increase the administrative component without reducing the

capitalization component. However, the Bureau had explained that it was considered important to maintain the charge assessed on the procurement of public health supplies at its current level in order to ensure that Member States' ability to procure vaccines and other supplies through the funds was not negatively affected, especially in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. In the light of those explanations, the Executive Committee had endorsed the proposed change and recommended that the Directing Council approve it.

- 151. Mr. John Fitzsimmons (Chief, Revolving Fund Special Program for Access to Vaccines, PASB) recalled that the Bureau had been asked by the 52nd Directing Council to report at the end of each biennium on the use of the 1.25% administrative component of the 4.25% charge assessed on the procurement of public health supplies. Document CD58/15 constituted the report for the 2018-2019 biennium. The report outlined the progress achieved during the biennium to sustain Member States' access to quality life-saving vaccines and strategic health supplies at significant cost-savings. In addition, it described the ongoing internal process of improving the Bureau's demand and supply management tools, simplifying and automating processes, and establishing digital platforms to continue increasing the value that the procurement funds provided to Member States.
- 152. As noted in the report, the operational costs for the Organization's procurement mechanisms had been calculated at \$14.5 million. That calculation considered only the costs of Headquarters personnel who devoted at least 70% of their time to the operations of the three mechanisms. An internal analysis had revealed that the actual personnel costs had amounted to about \$20.5 million in 2018-2019. Those costs were projected to increase to at least \$24 million in the current biennium. The Bureau therefore proposed that the internal composition of the 4.25% fee should be adjusted, increasing the administrative component from 1.25% to 1.75% and reducing the capitalization component from 3.0% to 2.5%.
- 153. Member States voiced support for the proposal, acknowledging that the operating and personnel costs of the procurement funds had risen as a result of increased demand for vaccines and other public health supplies purchased through the funds and the expansion of technical cooperation and support services provided to Member States in connection with the funds. It was considered essential to ensure that the mechanisms remained self-sustainable and that the Bureau was able to recoup the full costs associated with operating them. At the same time, it was emphasized that the Bureau should continue to seek administrative efficiencies and ensure that resources were directed mainly towards fulfilling the Organization's mission and assisting Member States technically and financially. It was also considered crucial, particularly in the context of the pandemic, to ensure that Member States were able to access the capital accounts of the three mechanisms in order to rapidly procure needed public health supplies.
- 154. Mr. Fitzsimmons, thanking Member States for their support, affirmed that the Bureau would do all in its power to ensure equitable access to the COVID-19 vaccine when it became available.

- 155. The Director, noting that the procurement funds were an important part of the Bureau's technical cooperation and had become even more important in the context of the pandemic. She assured the Council that the Bureau would continue striving to ensure greater efficiencies and to provide the highest standard of service to Member States.
- 156. The Council adopted Resolution CD58.R4, approving the proposed change in the internal composition of the 4.25% fee assessed on the procurement of public health supplies.

#### **Selection of Member States to Boards and Committees**

# Election of Two Members to the Advisory Committee of the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (BIREME) (Document CD58/16)

- 157. The Directing Council declared Colombia and Costa Rica elected as nonpermanent members of the BIREME Advisory Committee for a three-year term commencing 1 January 2021 and thanked outgoing members Barbados and El Salvador for their service (Resolution CD58.R6).
- 158. The Delegate of Colombia said that it was an honor for his country to serve as a member of the BIREME Advisory Committee. Another delegate expressed appreciation for the work of BIREME, in particular its efforts to facilitate access to scientific, technical, and health information through its Virtual Health Library portal.

#### **Matters for Information**

#### Implementation of the International Health Regulations (Document CD58/INF/1)

- 159. Dr. Ciro Ugarte (Director, Department of Health Emergencies, PASB) summarized the information presented in Document CD58/INF/1, noting that it complemented Document CD58/6, on the COVID-19 pandemic in the Region of the Americas (see paragraphs 44 to 66 above) and the report on International Health Regulations presented to the World Health Assembly in May 2020 (WHO Document A73/14). The document presented information on the acute public health events of international concern reported from July 2019 to June 2020 and on the status of the core capacities of States Parties. In regard to the latter, Dr. Ugarte noted that, for all 13 core capacities, the average regional scores for the countries of the Americas were above the global averages, although there continued to be significant weaknesses in the area of radiation emergencies.
- 160. He pointed out that the COVID-19 pandemic was the archetype of the acute public health event for which the International Health Regulations had been conceived and that the pandemic had put the application of virtually all IHR provisions to the test. At the same time, it had created opportunities to ensure sustained investment in health and boost State Parties' confidence in steering the application of and compliance with the Regulations. The document identified recurrent issues that had arisen in the application of the IHR and outlined some possible adjustments to be made in 10 areas. In conclusion, Dr. Ugarte noted that various review processes were being conducted to assess the implementation of the

IHR and the response to the pandemic. In particular, the Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response (IPPC) had been established in June 2020 and an IHR Review Committee had been convened pursuant to Resolution WHA73.1, on the COVID-19 response.

- 161. In the discussion that followed Dr. Ugarte's report, delegates highlighted the binding nature of IHR and underscored the need for all States Parties to fully meet their obligations under the Regulations, in particular with regard to verification and transparent sharing of information. A delegate noted that, although the Regulations called for the provision of a public health response to public health problems and the avoidance of unnecessary interference with international traffic and trade, one of the principal measures applied in response to the COVID-19 pandemic had been border closures, a political measure that could result in the stigmatization of people because of their ethnic origin. Another delegate pointed out that, in accordance with Article 2 of the Regulations, such measures must be applied in ways that were commensurate with and restricted to public health risks.
- 162. The importance of continuous effort to strengthen and maintain core capacities was emphasized. A delegate drew attention to the need to enhance capacities with regard to epidemiological intelligence and sentinel surveillance, noting the advantages of such an approach over simple case counts, given the impossibility of identifying everyone affected by a disease. Delegates called on the Bureau to continue providing technical cooperation to enable countries to strengthen their core capacities. The Bureau was also asked to provide support to foster a greater understanding of voluntary external evaluations and encourage more countries to undertake such evaluations.
- Delegates agreed on the need to evaluate the response to the COVID-19 pandemic 163. and consider how the IHR could be strengthened in order to ensure that the world would be better prepared to detect and respond to future pandemics and other health emergencies. At the same time, it was considered important not to forget that the IHR already included measures of great importance that were based on lessons learned globally over decades. The Delegate of the United States reported that her Government had prepared a roadmap for reviewing the COVID-19 response and for strengthening WHO's global emergency preparedness and response capacity and increasing its accountability, transparency, and overall effectiveness in addressing new and emerging threats. Another delegate expressed support for the short-, medium-, and long-term actions proposed in the roadmap. A third delegate stressed the importance of undertaking an in-depth review and implementing measures that would ensure, through a strengthened IHR, more equitable support in addressing health emergencies through a joint approach that prioritized the countries with the greatest health and financial difficulties. The Bureau was requested to ensure that the views of the Member States of the Americas were conveyed to the IHR Review Committee.
- 164. Several specific potential measures to improve implementation and compliance with the Regulations were suggested, including coordinated actions to strengthen multinational participation in the face of pandemics or other public health events of potential international concern, mechanisms addressing the situation of foreigners in a

country when a public health event of international concern is declared, and policies for assisting vulnerable populations during such events. It was suggested that a universal review mechanism for IHR compliance to track States Parties' compliance might help to incentivize implementation of the Regulations while also serving to identify areas for improved technical assistance. At the same time, it was emphasized that any compliance evaluation mechanisms should build on the strong foundation of the IHR monitoring and evaluation framework. A delegate requested clarification of the procedures for including or excluding experts proposed by the countries of the Region for appointment to the various IHR committees, in particular the IHR Emergency Committee.

- 165. Dr. Ugarte noted that, while the majority of the countries in the Region had shared information on COVID-19 in a timely and complete manner, there were still challenges to be overcome, particularly with regard to delays in sharing sufficient information. With regard to the procedure for selection of experts for IHR committees, he recalled that the matter had been under discussion for several years and that, during various regional consultations on the Regulations, the IHR Secretariat had been asked to explain the procedure for inclusion and exclusion of experts. He noted that, at present, experts from 10 countries in the Region were included in the IHR Roster of Experts. Concerning the process for reviewing and updating the Regulations, he suggested that countries of the Region might wish to agree on recommendations for improving the exchange of information with the Secretariat and other procedures.
- 166. The Director observed that the value of the IHR had been clearly demonstrated during the COVID-19 pandemic, but that the deficiencies in the implementation of the Regulations had also been recognized. There was an obvious need for further assessment of the response by Member States and for a review of the IHR themselves. She assured Member States that the Bureau would continue to work with them to strengthen their core capacities and to transmit their suggestions to the Review Committee and to the WHO Secretariat. She appealed to Member States to engage actively in the discussions on the IHR so that their experiences could be brought to bear in the review.
- 167. The Council took note of the report.

#### Other Matters

168. During the 58th Directing Council, no other matters were discussed.

#### **Closure of the Session**

169. Following the customary exchange of courtesies, the President declared the 58th Directing Council closed.

#### **Resolutions and Decisions**

170. The following are the resolutions and decisions adopted by the 58th Directing Council:

# Resolutions

# CD58.R1: Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having examined the Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund (Document CD58/10);

Having noted that the Director has replenished the Working Capital Fund to its current authorized level of US\$ 25.0 million;

Aware of the need for a buffer for unforeseeable, extraordinary expenses as provided for in the Financial Regulations of PAHO;

Considering the recommendation of the Executive Committee concerning an increase in the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund, in recognition of the rate of receipt of assessed contributions, as well as the need to ensure that the Program Budget is carried out in an efficient and orderly manner,

#### **RESOLVES:**

- 1. To approve an increase in the authorized level of the Working Capital Fund from \$25.0 million to \$50.0 million.
- 2. To authorize the Director to finance the increase in the Working Capital Fund from any surplus of revenue over expense as a result of efficiencies realized in the implementation of the Program Budget (budget surplus).
- 3. To request the Director to regularly present a report to the Governing Bodies on the manner in which cashflows from the Working Capital Fund are covered and the programmatic areas that are financed from it.

(Second meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58.R2: Programming of the Budget Surplus

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having considered the report of the Director on the *Programming of the Budget Surplus* (Document CD58/11);

Having considered the recommendation of the Executive Committee concerning the replenishment of the Working Capital Fund to its authorized level,

## **RESOLVES:**

- 1. To approve the allocation of the 2018-2019 budget surplus totaling US \$5,737,970.47 as follows:
- a) \$5,737,970.47 to replenish the Working Capital Fund to its authorized level of \$50 million, in accordance with Financial Regulation 4.6.

(Second meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58.R3 PAHO Governance Reform

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having reviewed the document *PAHO Governance Reform* (Document CD58/7);

Recognizing the importance of further strengthening of PAHO management of technical cooperation projects funded by voluntary contributions so as to increase oversight and accountability to Member States, and to protect the Organization from institutional risks, including financial, legal, operational, technical, and reputational risks,

- 1. To thank the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau for the advances made, and for the policies and procedures implemented to promote good governance, transparency, and accountability throughout the Organization.
- 2. To request the Director to:

## **RESOLVES**:

- a) seek and fully consider Executive Committee recommendations on any proposed technical cooperation project funded by voluntary contributions (including national voluntary contributions) that is expected to require an annual expenditure or receipt of funds by the Organization exceeding US\$ 25 million or presents a high level of institutional risk (including financial, legal, operational, technical, and reputational risks); this will require that the Director provides a synopsis to the Executive Committee, including a summary of the proposed project, its risk assessment results, and the results of its internal review process;
- b) prepare a document to be presented at the 168th Session of the PAHO Executive Committee in June 2021 describing lessons learned from implementation of the above requests.

(Second meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58.R4: Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public Health Supplies for Member States

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having considered the *Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public Health Supplies for Member States* (Document CD58/15);

Recognizing the increasing demand from Member States for access to vaccines and strategic public health supplies, and noting the transformational projects that the Pan American Sanitary Bureau has undertaken to improve demand and supply management tools, to leverage technology that can simplify and automate processes and improve quality and speed, and to establish digital platforms that deliver real-time information to Member States;

Noting that the expenditures on operation of the three procurement mechanisms of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) —the Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines (Revolving Fund), the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies (Strategic Fund), and reimbursable procurement on behalf of Member States—reported for the 2018-2019 biennium represented a 74% increase over the prior period, and that an internal analysis of the full cost of personnel time, both at PAHO Headquarters and in PWR Offices, estimated the actual personnel costs for operation of the procurement mechanisms at approximately US\$ 20.5 million;

Noting with concern that there is an ongoing need to ensure sustainability of the three procurement mechanisms, considering the full costs of technical cooperation activities and investments to improve the quality and efficiency of service;

Recognizing the need to adjust the internal composition of the 4.25% fee to increase the administrative component of the service charge from 1.25% to 1.75% and decrease the capitalization component from 3.00% to 2.50%,

# **RESOLVES:**

- 1. To authorize the Director to:
- a) adjust the internal composition of the 4.25% fee to increase the administrative component of the service fee to 1.75% and decrease the capitalization component to 2.50%, effective 1 January 2021; this change will apply to the 4.25% fee on net purchases made by the Revolving Fund, the Strategic Fund, and the reimbursable procurement mechanism;
- b) credit the increase in the administrative component (0.50%) to the Special Fund for Program Support Costs to defray the operating and management costs generated throughout the Organization by the Revolving Fund, the Strategic Fund, and the reimbursable procurement mechanism;

c) decrease by the same percentage (0.50%) the credit to the Capital Accounts of the Revolving Fund, the Strategic Fund, and the reimbursable procurement mechanism.

(Third meeting, 29 September 2020)

CD58.R5: Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee on the Expiration of the Periods of Office of Belize, Canada, and Peru

## THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Bearing in mind the provision of Articles 4.D and 15.A of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization;

Considering that Brazil, Cuba, and Suriname were elected to serve on the Executive Committee upon the expiration of the periods of office of Belize, Canada, and Peru,

#### **RESOLVES:**

- 1. To declare Brazil, Cuba, and Suriname elected to membership on the Executive Committee for a period of three years.
- 2. To thank Belize, Canada, and Peru for the services rendered to the Organization during the past three years by their delegates on the Executive Committee.

(Fourth meeting, 29 September 2020)

CD58.R6: Election of Two Members to the Advisory Committee of the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (BIREME)

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Bearing in mind that Article VI of the Statute of BIREME establishes that the Advisory Committee of BIREME is to be comprised of one representative appointed by the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau and one by the Government of Brazil as permanent members, and that five nonpermanent members are to be selected and named by the Directing Council or the Pan American Sanitary Conference of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) from among the BIREME membership (which at this time includes all PAHO Member States, Participating States, and Associated States), taking geographical representation into account;

Recalling that Article VI further states that the five nonpermanent members of the BIREME Advisory Committee should be rotated every three years, and that the Directing

Council or the Pan American Sanitary Conference of PAHO may indicate a shorter rotation period in cases where it is necessary to maintain balance among members of the Advisory Committee;

Considering that Colombia and Costa Rica were elected to serve on the BIREME Advisory Committee beginning 1 January 2021, due to the completion of the term of Barbados and El Salvador.

#### RESOLVES:

- 1. To declare Colombia and Costa Rica elected as nonpermanent members of the BIREME Advisory Committee for a three-year term (2021-2023).
- 2. To thank Barbados and El Salvador for the services provided to the Organization by their delegates on the BIREME Advisory Committee over the past three years.

(Fourth meeting, 29 September 2020)

# CD58.R7: Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of PAHO THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having considered the recommendation of the Executive Committee and the proposed amendments to the Financial Regulations of the Pan American Health Organization as they appear in Addendum I to Document CD58/13;

Taking into consideration that the amendments to the Financial Regulations would align the Organization with the requirements contained in IPSAS 29, specifically with regard to the impairment of assets to ensure that they are reported at a fair value,

#### **RESOLVES:**

To approve the amendments to the Financial Regulations of the Pan American Health Organization pertaining to the impairment of assets as set forth in Addendum I of Document CD58/13, and to make these amendments effective immediately.

(Fourth meeting, 29 September 2020)

## CD58.R8: Collection of Assessed Contributions

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having considered the report of the Director on the collection of assessed contributions (Documents CD58/9 and Add. 1), and the concern expressed by the 166th Session of the Executive Committee with respect to the status of the collection of assessed contributions:

Noting that the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela is in arrears in the payment of its assessed contributions such that it is subject to Article 6.B of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization;

Noting that as of 29 September 2020, 13 Member States have not made any payments towards their 2020 assessed contributions;

Noting that as of 29 September 2020, only 37% of the current year's assessed contributions have been received, forcing the Organization to utilize the Working Capital Fund and other unrestricted resources,

#### **RESOLVES:**

- 1. To take note of the report of the Director on the collection of assessed contributions (Documents CD58/9 and Add. 1).
- 2. To express appreciation to those Member States that have already made payments in 2020.
- 3. To strongly urge all Members with outstanding balances to meet their financial obligations to the Organization in an expeditious manner in order to efficiently implement the Progam Budget for 2020-2021.
- 4. To request the President of the Directing Council to notify the Delegation of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela that its voting rights have been suspended as of this 58th Session of the Directing Council.
- 5. To request the Director to:
- a) continue to monitor the status of assessed contributions and the impact of delays on the financial health of PAHO;
- b) advise the Executive Committee of Member States' compliance with their financial commitments to the Organization;
- c) report to the 59th Directing Council on the status of collection of assessed contributions for 2021 and prior years.

(Fourth meeting, 29 September 2020)

# CD58.R9: COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas

# THE 58th DIRECTING COUNCIL,

Having reviewed the document *COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas* (Document CD58/6);

Recalling resolutions COVID-19 response (Resolution WHA73.1 [2020]), International cooperation to ensure global access to medicines, vaccines and medical equipment to face COVID-19 (Resolution A/RES/74/274 [2020]), Global solidarity to fight the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (Resolution A/RES/74/270 [2020]), Plan of Action for Disaster Risk Reduction 2016-2021 (Resolution CD55.R10 [2016]), Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (Resolution A/RES/70/1 [2015]), Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 (Resolution A/RES/69/283 [2015]), Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage (Resolution CD53.R14 [2014]), Plan of Action for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (Resolution CD53.R9 [2014]), and Revision of the International Health Regulations (Resolution WHA58.3 [2005]);

Recognizing that, in each and every single country and territory, the COVID-19 pandemic is, and will be, requiring national leadership and responsibility as well as the whole-of-government and the whole-of-society commitment to sustain consistent and robust response, mitigation, and recovery efforts in the medium and long terms;

Recalling World Health Assembly resolution WHA73.1 on the response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and in particular the call, in the spirit of unity and solidarity, to intensify cooperation and collaboration at all levels in order to contain and control the COVID-19 pandemic and mitigate its impact;

Recognizing the role of extensive immunization against COVID-19 as a global public good for health in preventing, containing, and stopping transmission in order to bring the pandemic to an end once safe, quality, efficacious, effective, accessible, and affordable vaccines are available;

Considering warranted that the commitment and requests expressed in the World Health Assembly's resolution WHA73.1 on COVID-19 response for responding to, mitigating the impact of, and recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic are reemphasized and renewed in the Region of the Americas,

## RESOLVES:

- 1. To urge all Member States, considering their contexts, needs, vulnerabilities, and priorities, to:
- a) maintain, enhance, expand, and plan for sustained and sustainable, whole-of-government and whole-of-society policies, strategies, and actions to continue responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
- b) continue investing, and leveraging advantages and innovation resulting from the response to the COVID-19 pandemic in population- and individual based services throughout the health system, with emphasis on the essential public health functions;

- c) initiate preparatory activities for immunization in anticipation of the availability of a safe, efficacious, and accessible COVID-19 vaccine;
- d) comply with the provisions of the International Health Regulations (IHR), in particular with those related to the timely sharing of information: *i)* allowing for the comprehensive monitoring of the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic; *ii)* enabling States Parties to undertake risk management activities accordingly; *iii)* allowing the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (the Bureau) to deploy support in the field;
- e) conduct and document—with the support of the Bureau as necessary—reviews of the national response to the COVID-19 pandemic;
- f) take into account the movement of people (e.g., humanitarian and health workers, essential workers, aircraft, and vessel crew members), equipment, and supplies needed for COVID-19 pandemic response operations; as well as of essential goods;
- g) provide sustainable funding to the Pan American Health Organization so that it can fulfill its mandates while responding to, mitigating the impact of, and recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic, considering the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in developing Member States.
- 2. To request the Director to:
- a) continue providing evidence-based technical cooperation to Member States, promote innovation and sharing of experiences, to resume and maintain uninterrupted operations and interventions of the health system in all relevant aspects necessary for responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
- b) exert transparency, independence, and impartiality, when calling upon States Parties to timely and responsible sharing of truthful information—pursuant to the provisions of the IHR—about the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic in their territory;
- c) maintain the regional network for the surveillance of influenza and other respiratory viruses, and expand them through the creation of a Regional Genomic Surveillance Network;
- d) support Member States through the Bureau's technical areas, the Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines (Revolving Fund), and the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies (Strategic Fund) to improve equitable access to, without undermining incentives for innovation, and appropriate use of, affordable, safe, efficacious and quality vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics, biomedical equipment, and personal protective equipment that can improve health outcomes and reduce the impact of the pandemic;

- e) support Member States in engaging with global initiatives, such as the Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator, for vaccines, diagnostics and therapeutics, the Solidarity Call to Action and all other relevant initiatives for the development and access to essential health technologies for COVID-19;
- f) continue to develop actions and tools that promote international cooperation, in the framework of Resolution CD52.R15, *Cooperation for Health Development in the Americas*, to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Region of the Americas;
- g) provide support to Member States, in the framework of the IHR and in coordination with the World Health Organization, through the development and publication of regional guidelines and recommendations on the management of international travelers, for example, the effectiveness of traveler screening tools, among others, in order to allow Member States to undertake the corresponding risk management activities;
- h) inform Member States on a regular basis on advances in the research and development of COVID-19 vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics, as well as recommendations for use, principles for access and allocation, regulatory requirements, and actions that the Revolving Fund and the Strategic Fund have initiated to ensure access to vaccines and products for COVID-19;
- i) promote, facilitate and consolidate reviews of the response to the COVID-19 pandemic conducted by Member States, as well as carry out and document an equivalent exercise focusing on the response by the Bureau in alignment with Resolution WHA73.1;
- j) maintain and continue to strengthen the capacity of the Bureau at all organizational levels to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and other emergencies and disasters;
- k) report regularly to the Governing Bodies of the Pan American Health Organization on the progress made and challenges faced in the implementation of this Resolution.

(Fourth meeting, 29 September 2020)

#### **Decisions**

# CD58(D1): Election of Officers

Pursuant to Rule 16 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council elected Colombia as President, Grenada and Honduras as Vice Presidents, and Uruguay as Rapporteur of the 58th Directing Council.

(First meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58(D2): Establishment of a Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution

Pursuant to Rule 31 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council appointed Aruba, El Salvador, and Trinidad and Tobago as members of the Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution.

(First meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58(D3): Appointment of the Committee on Credentials

Pursuant to Rule 31 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council appointed Antigua and Barbuda, Costa Rica, and Paraguay as members of the Committee on Credentials.

(First meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58(D4): Establishment of the General Committee

In view of the logistical limitations presented by the electronic platform used for the virtual session, the Council decided that all matters related to the dispatch of the business of the Council that would ordinarily have been dealt with by the General Committee would be addressed by the Council itself.

(First meeting, 28 September 2020)

# CD58(D5): Adoption of the Agenda

Pursuant to Rule 10 of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, the Council adopted the agenda submitted by the Director (Document CD58/1).

(First meeting, 28 September 2020)

## CD58(D6): Programming of the Revenue Surplus

The Directing Council endorsed the allocation of the revenue surplus as proposed in Document CD58/12.

(Second meeting, 28 September 2020)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the President of the 58th Directing Council, 72nd Session of the Regional Committee of WHO for the Americas, Delegate of Colombia, and the Secretary ex officio, Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau, sign the present Final Report in the Spanish language.

DONE in Washington, D.C., on this twenty-ninth day of September in the year two thousand twenty. The Secretary shall deposit the original texts in the archives of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau. The Final Report will be published on the website of the Pan American Health Organization once approved by the President.

Fernando Ruiz Gómez
President of the
58th Directing Council,
72nd Session of the Regional Committee
of WHO for the Americas
Delegate of Colombia

Carissa Etienne
Secretary ex officio of the
58th Directing Council,
72nd Session of the Regional Committee
of WHO for the Americas
Director of the
Pan American Sanitary Bureau

# **AGENDA**

## 1. OPENING OF THE SESSION

# 2. PROCEDURAL MATTERS

- 2.1 Appointment of the Committee on Credentials
- 2.2 Election of Officers
- 2.3 Establishment of a Working Party to Study the Application of Article 6.B of the PAHO Constitution
- 2.4 Establishment of the General Committee
- 2.5 Adoption of the Agenda

## 3. CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS

- 3.1 Annual Report of the President of the Executive Committee
- 3.2 Annual Report of the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau
- 3.3 Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee on the Expiration of the Periods of Office of Belize, Canada, and Peru

#### 4. PROGRAM POLICY MATTERS

- 4.1 Report of the End-of-biennium Assessment of the PAHO Program and Budget 2018-2019/Final Report on the Implementation of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019
- 4.2 COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas
- 4.3 PAHO Governance Reform
- 4.4 Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the Pan American Health Organization Strategic Priorities

# 5. ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL MATTERS

- 5.1 Report on the Collection of Assessed Contributions
- 5.2 Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor for 2019
- 5.3 Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund
- 5.4 Programming of the Budget Surplus
- 5.5 Programming of the Revenue Surplus
- 5.6 Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of PAHO
- 5.7 Update on the Appointment of the External Auditor of PAHO for 2022-2023
- 5.8 Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public Health Supplies for Member States

## 6. SELECTION OF MEMBER STATES TO BOARDS AND COMMITTEES

6.1 Election of Two Members to the Advisory Committee of the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (BIREME)

## 7. MATTERS FOR INFORMATION\*

7.1 Implementation of the International Health Regulations

# 8. OTHER MATTERS

9. CLOSURE OF THE SESSION

Annex

\_

<sup>\*</sup> Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and according to Resolution CE166.R7, Final and Progress Reports listed in the Annex to this agenda were published on the webpage of the 58th Directing Council for information purposes only.

Annex
Final Reports and Progress Reports on Policies, Strategies and Plans of Action
Due for Reporting to the Directing Council in 2020

Matters for Information	Document Number
Plan of Action for the Prevention of Blindness and Visual Impairment: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R8 [2014])	CD58/INF/2
Plan of Action on Health in All Policies: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R2 [2014])	CD58/INF/3
Strategy and Plan of Action on Dementias in Older Persons: Final Report (Resolution CD54.R11 [2015])	CD58/INF/4
Plan of Action for the Prevention of Obesity in Children and Adolescents: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R13 [2014])	CD58/INF/5
Plan of Action for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases: Final Report (Resolution CD52.R9 [2013]) (Resolution CD48.R9 [2008])	CD58/INF/6
Plan of Action on Disabilities and Rehabilitation: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R12 [2014])	CD58/INF/7
Plan of Action for Universal Access to Safe Blood: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R6 [2014])	CD58/INF/8
Plan of Action for the Prevention and Control of Viral Hepatitis: Final Report (Resolution CD54.R7 [2015])	CD58/INF/9
Plan of Action for the Prevention and Control of Tuberculosis: Final Report (Resolution CD54.R10 [2015])	CD58/INF/10
Strategy for Arboviral Disease Prevention and Control: Final Report (Resolution CD55.R6 [2016])	CD58/INF/11

	Matters for Information	Document Number
Plan of Action for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance: Final Report (Resolution CD53.R9 [2014])		CD58/INF/12
Dev	Ith, Drinking Water, and Sanitation in Sustainable Human relopment: Final Report solution CD43.R15 [2001])	CD58/INF/13
Prog	gress Reports on Technical Matters:	
A.	Plan of Action on Workers' Health: Midterm Review (Resolution CD54.R6 [2015])	CD58/INF/14(A)
В.	Strategy and Plan of Action to Strengthen Tobacco Control in the Region of the Americas 2018-2022: Midterm Review (Resolution CSP29.R12 [2017]) (Resolution CD50.R6 [2010])	CD58/INF/14(B)
C.	Plan of Action for Disaster Risk Reduction 2016-2021: Progress Report (Resolution CD55.R10 [2016])	CD58/INF/14(C)
D.	PAHO Gender Equality Policy: Progress Report (Resolution CD46.R16 [2005]) (Resolution CD49.R12 [2009])	CD58/INF/14(D)
E.	Strengthening National Regulatory Authorities for Medicines and Biologicals: Progress Report (Resolution CD50.R9 [2010])	CD58/INF/14(E)
F.	Resilient Health Systems: Progress Report (Resolution CD55.R8 [2016])	CD58/INF/14(F)
G.	Plan of Action for the Strengthening of Vital Statistics 2017-2022: Midterm Review (Resolution CSP29.R4 [2017])	CD58/INF/14(G)

## LIST OF DOCUMENTS

#### **Official Documents**

OD360 Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External

Auditor for 2019

**Working Documents** 

CD58/1 Agenda

CD58/WP/1 Program of Meetings

CD58/2 Annual Report of the President of the Executive Committee

CD58/3, Rev. 1 Annual Report of the Director of the Pan American

Sanitary Bureau

CD58/4 Election of Three Member States to the Executive Committee

on the Expiration of the Periods of Belize, Canada, and Peru

CD58/5 and Add. I Report of the End-of-biennium Assessment of the PAHO

Program and Budget 2018-2019/Final Report on the Implementation of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019

CD58/6 COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas

CD58/7 and Add. I PAHO Governance Reform

CD58/8 Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the

Pan American Health Organization Strategic Priorities

CD58/9, Report on the Collection of Assessed Contributions

Add. I and Add. II

CD58/10 Status and Authorized Level of the Working Capital Fund

CD58/11 Programming of the Budget Surplus

CD58/12 Programming of the Revenue Surplus

CD58/13 and Add. I Amendments to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules

of PAHO

CD58/14 Update on the Appointment of the External Auditor

of PAHO for 2022-2023

# Working Documents (cont.)

CD58/15 Review of the Charge Assessed on the Procurement of Public

Health Supplies for Member States

CD58/16 Election of Two Members to the Advisory Committee

of the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health

Sciences Information (BIREME)

# **Information Documents**

CD58/INF/1 Implementation of the International Health Regulations

# LIST OF PARTICIPANTS/LISTA DE PARTICIPANTES OFFICERS/MESA DIRECTIVA

President / Presidente: Dr. Fernando Ruíz Gómez (Colombia)

Vice-President / Vicepresidente: Hon. Nickolas Steele (Grenada)

Vice-President / Vicepresidente: Lcda. Alba Consuelo Flores Ferrufino (Honduras)

Rapporteur / Relator: Dr. Miguel Asqueta Sóñora (Uruguay)

## **MEMBER STATES/ESTADOS MIEMBROS**

## ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA/ANTIGUA Y BARBUDA

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Molwyn M. Joseph, MP

Minister of Health, Wellness, and the

Environment

Ministry of Health, Wellness, and the

Environment St. John's

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Rhonda Sealey-Thomas Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health, Wellness, and the Environment St. John's

#### **ARGENTINA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Ginés González García Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud Buenos Aires

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Carla Moretti
Directora Nacional de Relaciones
Internacionales
Ministerio de Salud
Buenos Aires

#### **ARGENTINA** (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dra. Gabriela Ramírez

Asesora

Dirección Nacional de Relaciones

Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Buenos Aires

Lic. Georgina Grigioni

Asesora, Dirección Nacional de Relaciones Internacionales

Ministerio de Salud Buenos Aires

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Lic. Andrea Polach Asesora Dirección Nacional de Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Buenos Aires

#### **BAHAMAS**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Renward R. Wells, M.P. Minister of Health Ministry of Health Nassau

#### BAHAMAS (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

His Excellency Sidney S. Collie Ambassador, Permanent Representative of The Bahamas to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Pearl McMillan Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health Nassau

Dr. Cherita Moxey Senior House Officer Ministry of Health Nassau

#### **BARBADOS**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Lt. Col. Hon. Jeffrey D. Bostic Minister of Health and Wellness Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Kenneth George Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Anton Best Senior Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Mrs. Janeth Phillips Permanent Secretary Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

#### BARBADOS (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Leslie Rollock Senior Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Dr. Arthur Phillips Senior Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Mrs. Stacie Goring Senior Health Planner Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

His Excellency Noel A. Lynch Ambassador, Permanent Representative of Barbados to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

Ms. Christobelle Reece Deputy Chief of Mission Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael

Mrs. Madisa Downes
First Secretary, Alternate Representative
of Barbados to the Organization of
American States
Washington, D.C.

Mr. Jovan Reid First Secretary, Alternate Representative of Barbados to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

#### **BELIZE/BELICE**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Jorge George Gough Chief Executive Officer Ministry of Health Belmopan

# BOLIVIA (PLURINATIONAL STATE OF/BOLIVIA ESTADO PLURINACIONAL DE)

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dra. María Eidy Roca de Sangueza Ministra de Salud Ministerio de Salud La Paz

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Juan Oscar Landívar Zambrana Viceministro de Promoción, Vigilancia Epidemiológica, Medicina Tradicional e Interculturalidad Ministerio de Salud La Paz

Delegates – Delegados

Dr. Miguel Ángel Delgado Koriyama Viceministro de Gestión del Sistema Sanitario Ministerio de Salud La Paz

Dra. Graciela Minaya Ramos Coordinadora de Despacho Ministerial Ministerio de Salud La Paz

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Sr. Erick Foronda Ministro Consejero, Misión Permanente de Bolivia ante ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sr. Juan Natusch Segundo Secretario, Misión Permanente de Bolivia ante ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **BRAZIL/BRASIL**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Sr. Eduardo Pazuello Ministro de Estado da Saúde Ministério da Saúde Brasília

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excmo. Gabriel Boff Moreira
Embaixador, Representate Permanente do
Brasil junto à Organização dos Estados
Americanos
Washington, D.C.

Delegates – Delegados

Sr. Flávio Werneck Noce dos Santos Assessor Especial para Assuntos Internacionais de Saúde Ministério da Saúde Brasília

Sr. Carlos Fernando Gallinal Cuenca Conselheiro, Representante Alterno do Brasil junto à Organização dos Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Sr. Matheus Machado de Carvalho Primeiro Secretário, Assesor da Divisão de Ciudadania do Ministério de Relações Exteriores Rio de Janeiro

Sra. Cristina Alexandre
Primeira Secretária, Chefe da assesoria de
Asuntos Internacionais em Saúde
Ministério da Saúde
Brasilia

#### BRAZIL/BRASIL (cont.)

Brasilia

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Sr. Vinicius Lúcio Ferreria Chefe da Divisão de Temas Multilaterales da Assesoria de Assuntos Internacionais em Saúde Ministério da Saúde

Sra. Maria Clara de Paula Tusco Primeira-Secrétaria, Representante Alterna do Brasil junto à Organização dos Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sr. Matheus Corradi de Souza Terceiro Secretário Assesor da Divisão de Ciudadania Ministério das Relações Exteriores Brasilia

Sra. Indiara Meira Gonçalves Assessora para Assuntos Multilaterais Ministério da Saúde Brasília

Sra. Mariana Darvenne Analista Técnica Assuntos Multilaterais da Assesoria de Assuntos Internacionais Ministério do Saúde Brasilia

#### CANADA/CANADÁ

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Mr. Michael Pearson Branch Head Office of International Affairs for the Health Portfolio Health Canada, Ottawa

#### CANADA/CANADÁ (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

His Excellency Hugh Adsett
Ambassador, Permanent Representative of
Canada to the Organization of American
States
Washington, D.C.

# Delegates - Delegados

Mr. Nicolas Palanque Director, Multilateral Relations Division Office of International Affairs for the Health Portfolio Government of Canada, Ottawa

Ms. Lucero Hernandez
Manager, Multilateral Relations Division
Office of International Affairs for the
Health Portfolio
Government of Canada, Ottawa

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Ms. Monica Palak Senior Policy Analyst Multilateral Relations Division Office of International Affairs for the Health Portfolio Government of Canada, Ottawa

Ms. Jennifer Izaguirre
Policy Analyst
Office of International Affairs for the
Health Portfolio
Government of Canada, Ottawa

Mr. William Wang
Policy Analyst
Office of International Affairs for the
Health Portfolio
Government of Canada, Ottawa

Ms. Charlotte McDowell
Senior Development Officer and Alternate
Representative of Canada to the
Organization of American States
Washington, D.C.

# CANADA/CANADÁ (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores *(cont.)* 

Mr. Francois Jubinville
Deputy Head of Mission
Permanent Mission of Canada to the
Organization of American States
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Marissa de la Torre Ugarte Policy Analyst Global Affairs Canada Inter-American Program Ottawa

Dr. Horacio Arruda
Directeur national de Santé et Sous-Ministre
Adjoint à la Direction Générale de la
Santé Publique
Ministère de la Santé et des Services
Sociaux
Québec

Sarah Langevin
Conseillère en Affaires Internationales
Direction des Affaires
Intergouvernementales
et Internationales
Ministère de la Santé et des Services
Sociaux
Québec

Mr. Yipeg Ge Public Health Resident Public Health Agency of Canada University of Ottawa

## CHILE

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Enrique Paris Mancilla Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud Santiago

#### CHILE (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excmo. Sr. Hernán Salinas
Embajador, Representante Permanente de
Chile ante la Organización de los
Estados Americanos
Washington, D.C.

#### Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Patricio Muñoz Jara Encargado de Asuntos Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Santiago

Dr. Francisco Adriazola Santibáñez Coordinador de Asuntos Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Santiago

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Sra. Carolina Horta Consejera, Representante Alterna de Chile ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **COLOMBIA**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Fernando Ruíz Gómez Ministro de Salud y Protección Social Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excmo. Sr. Alejandro Ordoñez Maldonado Embajador, Representante Permanente de Colombia ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **COLOMBIA** (cont.)

Delegates – Delegados

Sr. Gerson Bermont Asesor, Despacho del Ministro Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá

Sr. Lucas Sebastián Gómez García Director de Asuntos Económicos Sociales y Ambientales Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Bogotá

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Sra. Adriana Maldonado Ministro Consejero, Representante Alterna de Colombia ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sra. Paola M. Bernal Coordinadora de Cooperación y Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá

Sra. Ximena Valdivieso
Coordinadora de Asuntos Sociales
Dirección de Asuntos Económicos, Sociales
y Ambientales
Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores
Bogotá

Sra. Grecia Saray Umbarila Vélez Asesora, Grupo de Cooperación y Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá

Sr. Luis Hernán Hincapié Matoma Asesor, Coordinación de Asuntos Sociales Dirección de Asuntos Económicos, Sociales y Ambientales Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

Bogotá

#### **COSTA RICA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Daniel Salas Pereza Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud San José

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excmo. Sr. Olger Ignacio González
Espinoza
Embajador, Representante Permanente
de Costa Rica ante la Organización de los
Estados Americanos
Washington

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Carlos Salguero Mendoza Asesor, Despacho Ministerial Ministerio de Salud Pública San José

Dra. Andrea Garita Castro Directora de Planificación Ministerio de Salud San José

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Lic. Adriana Salazar González Jefe de Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud San José

Sr. Antonio Alarcón Zamora Ministro Consejero, Representante Alterno de Costa Rica ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sra. Laura Raquel Pizarro Viales
Ministra Consejera, Representante
Permanente de Costa Rica ante la
Organización de los Estados Americanos
Washington, D.C.

#### **COSTA RICA** (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Sra. Sofía Isabel Mitjavila Sánchez Ministra Consejera, Representante Permanente de Costa Rica ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **CUBA**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. José Ángel Portal Miranda Ministro de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Marcia Cobas Ruiz Viceministra de Salud Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Néstor Marimón Torres Director de Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

Dra. Regla Angulo Pardo Viceministra de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Excmo. Sr. José R. Cabañas Rodríguez Embajador Embajada de Cuba Washington, D.C.

Dr. Francisco Alberto Durán García Director Nacional de Epidemiología Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

#### CUBA (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Lic. Evelyn Martínez Cruz Especialista de Organismos Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Pública La Habana

Sr. Pablo Berti Oliva Consejero, Jefe del Grupo de Derechos Humanos y Asuntos Socio-humanitarios Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores La Habana

Sr. Dariel Quintana Fraga Tercer Secretario Embajada de Cuba Washington, D.C.

#### **DOMINICA**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Dr. Irving McIntyre
Minister of Health, Wellness and
New Health Investment
Ministry of Health, Wellness and
New Health Investment
Dominica

# DOMINICAN REPUBLIC/REPÚBLICA DOMINICANA

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Antonio Plutarco Arias Arias Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud Pública Santo Domingo

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excmo. Sr. Josué Fiallo Embajador, Representante Alterno de la República Dominicana ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

# DOMINICAN REPUBLIC/REPÚBLICA DOMINICANA (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dra. Ivelisse V. Acosta Reyes Viceministra de Salud Colectiva Ministerio de Salud Pública Santo Domingo

Dr. Edward Rafael Guzmán Padilla Viceministro de Planificación y Desarrollo Ministerio de Salud Pública Santo Domingo

Alternates and Advisers - Suplentes y Asesores

Dra. Aurora Acosta Directora General de Salud Colectiva Ministerio de Salud Pública Santo Domingo

Lic. Dania Guzmán Sánchez Directora de Planificacion Institucional Ministerio de Salud Pública Santo Domingo

#### **ECUADOR**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Juan Carlos Zevallos López Ministro de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Pública Quito

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Sr. Francisco Xavier Solórzano Salazar Viceministro de Gobernanza y Vigilancia de la Salud Ministerio de Salud Pública Quito

# ECUADOR (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Excmo. Sr. Carlos A. Játiva Naranjo Embajador, Representante Permanente del Ecuador ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Lic. Fernando Roberto Jácome Gavilánez
Director Nacional de Cooperación y
Relaciones Internacionales
Ministerio de Salud Pública
Quito

Alternates and Advisers - Suplentes y Asesores

Sr. Marco Ponce Ministro, Representante Alterno del Ecuador ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Lic. Luisa Albertina Noboa Paz y Miño Analista de Cooperación y Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Quito

Sr. Martín Tamayo Analista Legal Dirección del Sistema Interamericano Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores y Movilidad Humana Quito

#### **EL SALVADOR**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Francisco José Alabi Montoya Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud San Salvador

#### **EL SALVADOR** (cont.)

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Francisco José Alabi Montoya Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud San Salvador

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Carlos Alvarenga Viceministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud San Salvador

Delegates - Delegados

Dra. Karla Marina Díaz de Naves Viceministra de Operaciones en Salud Ministerio de Salud San Salvador

# **GRENADA/GRANADA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Nickolas Steele
Minister of Health, Social Security and
International Business
Ministry of Health, Social Security and
International Business
St. George's

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Shawn Charles Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health, Social Security and International Business St. George's

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Francis Martin
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Health, Social Security and
International Business
St. George's

#### **GRENADA/GRANADA** (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados (cont.)

Dr. Calum Macpherson Director of Research St. George's University St. George's

Alternates and Advisers - Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Trevor Noel Assistant Director WINDREF Research Institute St. George's University St. George's

#### **GUATEMALA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dra. María Amelia Flores González Ministra de Salud y Asistencia Social Ministerio de Salud Pública y Asistencia Social Ciudad de Guatemala

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Excma. Sra. Rita Claverie de Sciolli Embajadora, Representante Permanente de

Guatemala ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Delegates - Delegados

Dra. Norma Lucrecia Ramírez Viceministra Técnica Ministerio de Salud Pública y Asistencia Social Ciudad de Guatemala

Sr. Francisco José Coma Martín Viceministro de Hospitales Ministerio de Salud Pública y Asistencia Social Ciudad de Guatemala

#### **GUATEMALA** (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers - Suplentes y Asesores

Embajadora Ana Isabel Carrillo Fabián Directora General de Relaciones Internacionales Multilaterales y Económicas Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Ciudad de Guatemala

Dra. Mónica Eunice Escobar García Directora de Política Multilateral Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Ciudad de Guatemala

Sr. Mauricio R. Benard Estrada Consejero, Representante Alterno de Guatemala ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sr. Kenneth Rafael Marroquín Subdirector de Política Multilateral de Organismos Regionales Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Ciudad de Guatemala

Sra. Marielena Soza Morales Primera Secretaria, Representante Alterna de Guatemala ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **GUYANA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Frank C. S. Anthony Minister of Health Ministry of Health Georgetown

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Leslie Ramsammy Advisor Ministry of Health Georgetown

#### **GUYANA** (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Vishwa Mahadeo Regional Health Services Ministry of Health Georgetown

Dr. Karen Cambell Deputy Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health Georgetown

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Narine Singh Senior Registrar Ministry of Health Georgetown

#### HAITI/HAITÍ

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Marie Gréta Roy Clement Ministre Ministère de la Santé publique et de la Population Port-au-Prince

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

H.E. Léon Charles Ambassador, Permanent Representative of Haiti to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Lauré Adrien
Directeur Général
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

# HAITI/HAITÍ (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados (cont.)

Dr. Lauré Adrien
Directeur Général
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr Johnny Calonges
Directeur de l'Unité de Contractualisation
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

Dr. Ives Gaston Deslouches
Directeur de Cabinet
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

Dr. Reynold Grand-Pierre
Directeur de la Sant de la Famille
Ministère de la Santé péublique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

M Marcus Cadet
Chef de Service
Ministère de la Santé publique et
de la Population
Port-au-Prince

#### **HONDURAS**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Lcda. Alba Consuelo Flores Ferrufino Secretaria de Estado en el Despacho de Salud Secretaría de Salud Tegucigalpa

#### **HONDURAS** (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Janete Aguilar Montano
Directora de la Unidad de Planeamiento y
Evaluación de la Gestión
Secretaría de Salud
Tegucigalpa

Delegates - Delegados

Lic. Claudia Quiroz Técnico Asesor Secretaría de Salud Tegucigalpa

#### **JAMAICA**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Juliet Cuthbert Flynn Minister of State Ministry of Health and Wellness Kingston

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Jacquiline Bisasor McKenzie Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness Kingston

Delegates - Delegados

Ms. Rowena Palmer Acting Director, International Cooperation Ministry of Health and Wellness Kingston

Dr. Karen Webster Kerr National Epidemiologist Ministry of Health and Wellness Kingston

#### JAMAICA (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Nicole Dawkins Wrigth
Director, Emergency Disaster Management
and Special Services
Ministry of Health and Wellness
Kingston

Dr. Simone Spence Director, Health Promotion and Protection Ministry of Health and Wellness Kingston

#### **MEXICO/MÉXICO**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Jorge Carlos Alcocer Varela Secretario de Salud Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Hugo López-Gatell Ramírez Subsecretario de Prevención y Promoción de la Salud Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Delegates - Delegados

Excma. Sra. Luz Elena Baños Rivas Embajadora, Representante Permanente de

México ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Mtro. Marcos Cantero Cortes Titular de la Unidad de Análisis Económico Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

#### MEXICO/MÉXICO (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. José Luis Alomanía Zegarra Director General de Epidemiología Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Dr. Ricardo Córtes Alcalá Director General de Promoción de la Salud Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Dr. Joaquín Molina Leza Instituto de Salud para el Bienestar Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Lic. Martha Leticia Caballero Abraham Encargada de la Dirección General de Relaciones Internacionales Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Mtra. Araceli Camacho Chairez Directora de Policitas de Aseguramiento en Salud Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Dra. Georgina Rodríguez Elizondo Dirección General de Promoción de la Salud Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Lic. José Gustavo Valle Mendoza Subdirector de Gestión Interamericana Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Lic. Zulema Guerra Carpio Jefa del Departamento para el Sistema Interamericano Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

Lic. Maite Narvaéz Abad Segunda Secretaria, Representante Alterna de México ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### **NICARAGUA**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dra. Martha Verónica Reyes Álvarez Ministra Ministerio de Salud Managua

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Carlos José Sáenz Torres Secretario General Ministerio de Salud Managua

Delegates - Delegados

Excmo. Sr. Luis E. Alvarado Ramírez Embajador, Representante Alterno de Nicaragua ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Dr. Christian Toledo Director General de Vigilancia para la Salud Ministerio de Salud Managua

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Sr. Arturo McFields
Primer Secretario, Representante Alterno
de Nicaragua ante la Organización de los
Estados Americanos
Washington, D.C.

#### PANAMA/PANAMÁ

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Luis Francisco Sucre Mejía Ministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud Ciudad de Panamá

#### PANAMA/PANAMÁ (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Ivette O. Berrío Aquí Viceministra de Salud Ministerio de Salud Ciudad de Panamá

Delegates – Delegados

Dra. Nadja I. Porcell Iglesias Directora General de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Ciudad de Panamá

Dr. Cirilo Lawson Director de Planificación de Salud Ministerio de Salid Ciudad de Panamá

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Lic. Thays Noriega
Directora de Asuntos Internacionales y
Cooperación Técnica
Ministerio de Salud
Ciudad de Panamá

#### **PARAGUAY**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Julio Mazzoleni Insfrán Ministro de Salud Pública y Bienestar Social Ministerio de Salud Pública y Bienestar Social Asunción

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Guillermo Sequera
Director General de Vigilancia de la Salud
Ministerio de Salud Pública y
Bienestar Social
Asunción

#### PARAGUAY (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dra. Adriana Amarilla
Directora General de Promoción de la Salud
Ministerio de Salud Pública y
Bienestar Social
Asunción

Lic. Cecilia Irazusta
Directora General Interina de Relaciones
Internacionales
Ministerio de Salud Pública y
Bienestar Social
Asunción

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Econ. María Elizabeth Barrios
Directora General Interina de Planificación y
Evaluación
Ministerio de Salud Pública y
Bienestar Social
Asunción

Sra. Lorena Patiño Consejera, Representante Alterna de Paraguay ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

#### PERU/PERÚ

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Dra. Pilar Mazzetti Soler Ministra de Salud Ministerio de Salud Lima

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Luis Suárez Ognio Viceministro de Salud Ministerio de Salud Lima

# PERU/PERÚ (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Víctor Cuba Ore Director General Oficina de Cooperación Técnica Internacional Ministerio de Salud Lima

Dr. César Cabezas Sánchez Jefe Institucional Instituto Nacional de Salud Lima

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Excmo. Sr. Vicente Zeballos Embajador, Representante Permanente de Perú ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Sr. José Marcos Rodriguez Ministro Consejero, Representante Alterno de Perú ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Dr. Carlos Castillo Solorzano Asesor del Despacho Ministerial en Vacunas e Inmunización Ministerio de Salud Lima

# SAINT KITTS AND NEVIS/SAINT KITTS Y NEVIS

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Akilah Byron- Nisbett Minister of Health et al. Ministry of Health Basseterre

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Hazel Laws Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health Basseterre

# SAINT KITTS AND NEVIS/SAINT KITTS Y NEVIS (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Delores Stapleton-Harris Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Health Basseterre

Hon. Hazel Brandy-Williams Jr. Minister of Health and Gender Affairs Nevis Island Administration Ministry of Health Nevis

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Mrs. Shelisa Martin Clarke Permanente Secretary Ministry of Health Nevis

Mr. Sylvester Belle Health Planner Ministry of Health Basseterre

#### SAINT LUCIA/SANTA LUCÍA

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Senator Hon. Mary Issac Minister for Health and Wellness Ministry of Health and Wellness Waterfront, Castries

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Sharon Belmar-George Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Wellness Waterfront, Castries

Delegates - Delegados

Mr. Benson Emile Acting Permanent Secretary Ministry of Health and Wellness Waterfront, Castries

## SAINT VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES/ SAN VICENTE Y LAS GRANADINAS

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Mr. Cuthbert Knights
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Health, Wellness
and the Environment
Kingstown

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Simone Keizer-Beache Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health, Wellness and the Environment Kingstown

Mrs. Donna Bascombe Health Disaster Coordinator Ministry of Health, Wellness and the Environment Kingstown

#### **SURINAME**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Amar Ramadhin Minister of Health Ministry of Health Paramaribo

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dr. Ritesh Dhanpat
Policy Advisor of the Minister of Health
Ministry of Health
Paramaribo

Delegates – Delegados

Mrs. Saskia Bleau
Acting Head of the Planning, Monitoring
and Evaluation Department
Ministry of Health
Paramaribo

#### **SURINAME** (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados (cont.)

Mrs. Jessica Van Ams - Lansheuvel Acting Head International Relations Department Ministry of Health Paramaribo

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Mrs. Xiomara Starke Junior Official International Relations Department Ministry of Health Paramaribo

# TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO/TRINIDAD Y TABAGO

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Terrence Deyalsingh, M.P. Minister of Health Ministry of Health Port-of-Spain

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Mr. Asif Ali Permanent Secretary (Ag.) Ministry of Health Port-of-Spain

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Roshan Parasram Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health Port-of-Spain

Ms. Melanie Noel Deputy Permanent Secretary (Ag.) Ministry of Health Port-of-Spain

# TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO/TRINIDAD Y TABAGO (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Ms. Anita Sohan Director, International Cooperation Desk Ministry of Health Port-of-Spain

His Excellency Brigadier General (Ret'd)
Anthony Phillips-Spencer
Ambassador of the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago to the United States of America
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Ruedi Trouchen
Second Secretary, Alternate Representative
of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago to
the Organization of American States
Washington, D.C.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Alex M. Azar II Secretary of Health Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Mr. Garrett Grigsby Director Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

Delegates – Delegados

Mr. Nelson Arboleda Director, Americas Office Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados (cont.)

Mrs. Mara Burr Director Multilateral Relations Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Ms. Nerissa Cook
Deputy Assistant Secretary
Bureau of International Organization Affairs
Department of State
Washington, D.C.

Mr. Ted Faris
Acting Director
Office of Management, Policy,
and Resources
Bureau of International Organization Affairs
Department of State
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Carrie Filipetti
Deputy Assistant Secretary
Bureau of Western Hemisphere Affairs
Department of State
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Adriana Gonzalez
Health Advisor
Office of Economic and Development
Assistance
Bureau of International Organization Affairs
Department of State
Washington, D.C.

Mr. Joshua Hodges Senior Deputy Assistant Administrator Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C.

Mr. Michael Kozak Acting Assistant Secretary Bureau of Western Hemisphere Affairs Department of State Washington, D.C.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Mr. Colin McIff
Deputy Director
Office of Global Affairs
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Kristen Pisani
Director
Office of Economic and Development
Assistance
Bureau of International Organization Affairs
Department of State
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Monique Wubbenhorst Senior Deputy Assistant Administrator Bureau for Global Health U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C.

Mr. Jose Fernandez
Deputy Director for Global Health Security
Office of Global Affairs
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Brittany Hayes
Global Health Officer for Multilateral
Relations
Office of Global Affairs
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Meghan Holohan Senior Analyst Bureau for Policy, Planning and Learning U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C.

Ms. Mackenzie Klein Global Health Officer Office of the Americas Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Ms. Gabrielle Lamourelle
Deputy Director, Multilateral Relations
Office of Global Affairs
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Maya Levine
Senior Global Health Officer for
Multilateral Relations
Office of Global Affairs
Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D.C.

Ms. Marcela Lievano-Martinez Global Health Officer Office of the Americas Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

Ms. Ella Nudell Intern, Multilateral Relations Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

Ms. Leandra Olson Senior Global Health Officer, Multilateral Relations Office of Global Affairs Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C.

#### **URUGUAY**

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Daniel Salinas Ministro de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Pública Montevideo

#### **URUGUAY** (cont.)

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Sr. José Luis Satdjian Subsecretario de Salud Pública Ministerio de Salud Montevideo

Delegates - Delegados

Sr. Franco Alaggia Director Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Salud Montevideo

Dr. Miguel Asqueta Sóñora Director General de la Salud Ministerio de Salud Montevideo

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Fernando Sotelo Representante Permanente Interino de Uruguay ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

Dra. Alicia Arbelbide Ministra Consejera, Representante Alterna de Uruguay ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

# VENEZUELA (BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF/ REPÚBLICA BOLIVARIANA DE)

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Dr. Carlos Humberto Alvarado González Ministro del Poder Popular para la Salud Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Salud Caracas

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Dra. Marisela Bermúdez Viceministra de Redes de Salud Colectiva Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Salud Caracas

## VENEZUELA (BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF/ REPÚBLICA BOLIVARIANA DE) (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Dr. Alexander Yánez Deleuze Viceministro para Temas Multilaterales Ministerio del Poder Popular para Relaciones Exteriores Caracas

Dra. María Esperanza Martínez
Directora General de la oficina de
Seguimiento y Evaluación de Política
Públicas
Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Salud
Caracas

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Dr. Julio Francisco Colmenares Director de Relaciones Multilaterales Oficina de Integración y Asuntos Internacionales Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Salud Caracas

# VENEZUELA (BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF/ REPÚBLICA BOLIVARIANA DE) (cont.)

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Dr. Enzo Bitteto Gavilanes Ministro Consejero, Dirección de Organismos Internacionales, Viceministro para Temas Multilaterales Ministerio del Poder Popular para la Salud Caracas

Dr. Jhon Rafael Guerra Sansonetti Consejero, Misión Permanente de la República Bolivariana de Venezuela ante la Organización de las Naciones Unidas New York

Dra. Asbina Ixchel Marín Sevilla Consejera, Misión Permanente de la República Bolivariana de Venezuela ante la Organización de las Naciones Unidas New York

Dra. Oramaika Espinoza
Dirección de Organismos Internacionales,
Viceministerio para Temas Multilaterales
Ministerio del Poder Popular
Relaciones Exteriores
Caracas

#### PARTICIPATING STATES/ESTADOS PARTICIPANTES

#### FRANCE/FRANCIA

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Mrs. Anne Vidal de la Blache Ambassador, Permanent Representative of France to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Mrs. Nathalie Garro Councelor, Alternate Observer of France to the Organization of American States Washington, D.C.

#### FRANCE/FRANCIA (cont.)

Delegates - Delegados

Mr. Mikael Garnier-Lavalley Councelor Embassy of France Washington, D.C.

# PARTICIPATING STATES/ESTADOS PARTICIPANTES (cont.)

#### **UNITED KINGDOM/REINO UNIDO**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Mrs. Catherine Houlsby
Deputy Director of International
Ministry of Health
Department of Health and Social Care
United Kingdom

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Mrs. Natalie Smith Head of Multilterals, International Health Department of Health and Social Care United Kingdom

Delegates – Delegados

Mrs. Tamera Howell Robinson
Deputy Secretary
Ministry of Health
Turks and Caicos Islands

Mr. Lynrod Brooks Director of Health Services Ministry of Health Turks and Caicos Islands

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores

Ms. Jackurlyn Sutton Chief Nursing Officer Ministry of Health Turks and Caicos Islands

# **UNITED KINGDOM/REINO UNIDO (cont.)**

Alternates and Advisers – Suplentes y Asesores (cont.)

Miss Williams
Head of Secretariat
Ministry of Health
Turks and Caicos Islands

Dr. Astwood Head of Secretariat Ministry of Health Turks and Caicos Islands

Hon Kim Wilson, JP MP Minister of Health Ministry of Health Bermuda

Mrs. Shivon Washington Acting Permanent Secretary Ministry of Health Bermuda

Dr. Ayoola Oyinloye Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health Bermuda

Hon. Charles Kirnon Minister of Health and Social Services Ministry of Health and Social Services Montserrat

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno

Dr. Sharra Greenaway-Duberry Chief Medical Officer Ministry of Health and Social care Montserrat

# **ASSOCIATE MEMBERS/MIEMBROS ASOCIADOS**

# ARUBA (cont.)

Head of Delegation – Jefe de Delegación

Hon. Danguillaume Oduber Minister of Toursim, Public Health and Sport Ministry of Toursim, Public Health and Sport Oranjestad

Mr. Clayton Croes Policy Advisor Department of Public Health

Oranjestad

de Delegación

# 20

# ASSOCIATE MEMBERS/MIEMBROS ASOCIADOS (cont.)

#### **CURAÇÃO**

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Mrs. Zita Jesus-Leito Minister of Health, Environment and Nature Ministry of Health, Environment and Nature Willemstad

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Mr. Sharlon Melfor Secretary General Ministry of Health, Environment and Nature Willemstad

Delegates - Delegados

Mrs. Jeanine Constansia-Kook Policy Director Ministry of Health, Environment and Nature Willemstad

Mrs. Acting Director Sector Health Acting Director Bureau of Telecommunication and Post Willemstad

#### SINT MAARTEN/SAN MARTÍN

Head of Delegation - Jefe de Delegación

Ms. Fenna Arnell
Head of Public Health Department
Ministry of Public Health, Social
Development and Labor
Philipsburg

Alternate Head of Delegation – Jefe Alterno de Delegación

Ms. Luetta Fleming-Stuger
Policy Advisor
Public Health Department
Ministry of Public Health, Social
Development and Labor
Philipsburg

#### **OBSERVER STATES/ESTADOS OBSERVADORES**

#### **PORTUGAL**

Mrs. Alexandra Bilreiro Deputy Chief Embassy of Portugal Washington, D.C.

Mr. Francisco Leal de Almeida Second Secretary Embassy of Portugal Washington, D.C.

#### SPAIN/ESPAÑA

Excma. Sra. Carmen Montón
Embajadora, Observadora Permanente de
España ante la Organización de los
Estados Americanos
Washington, D.C.

Sra. Dña. Concepción Figuerola Observadora Permanente Adjunta de España ante la Organización de los Estados Americanos Washington, D.C.

# REPRESENTATIVES OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE/ REPRESENTANTES DEL COMITÉ EJECUTIVO

Lt. Col. The Hon. Jeffrey D. Bostic Minister of Health and Wellness Ministry of Health and Wellness St. Michael, Barbados Lic. Martha Leticia Caballero Abraham Encargada de la Dirección General de Relaciones Internacionales Secretaría de Salud México, D.F.

# UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES/ NACIONES UNIDAS Y AGENCIAS ESPECIALIZADAS

## International Atomic Energy Agency/ Organismo Internacional de Energía Atómica

Mr. Raúl Ramirez

Mr. Saul Perez

Mr. Enrique Estrada Lobato

Ms. Lisbeth Cordero-Méndez

Ms. Geraldine Aries de Goebl

Ms. Lisa Stevens

Ms. Diana Paez

Mr. José Alfredo Polo Rubio

## United Nations Environment Programme/ Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Medio Ambiente

Mr. Jordi Pon

# REPRESENTATIVES OF INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS/ REPRESENTANTES DE ORGANIZACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES

# Amazon Cooperation Treaty Organization/Organización del Tratado de Cooperación Amazónica

Sr. Carlos Lazary Sra. Alexandra Moreira Sr. Carlos Salinas

Sr. Diego Pacheco

# Andean Health Organization - Hipólito Unanue Agreement/Organismo Andino de Salud - Convenio Hipólito Unanue

Dra María del Carmen Calle Dra. Marisela Mallqui

#### Caribbean Community/ Comunidad del Caribe

Mr. Douglas Slater Mrs. Helen Royer Mrs. Beverly Reynolds

# Caribbean Public Health Agency/Agencia de Salud Pública del Caribe

Dr. Joy St. John Dr. Mark Sami Dr. Lisa Indar

# Council of Ministers of Health of Central America/Consejo de Ministros de Salud de Centroamérica y República Dominicana

Dr. Alejandro Solís

# Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States/Organización de Estados del Caribe Oriental

Dr. Lyda Atkins

# REPRESENTATIVES OF NON-STATES ACTORS IN OFFICIAL RELATIONS WITH PAHO / REPRESENTANTES DE ACTORES NO ESTATALES EN RELACIONES OFICIALES CON LA OPS

## American Public Health Association/Asociación Americana de Salud Pública

Dr. George Benjamin Ms. Vina HuLamm

# American Speech-Language-Hearing Association/Asociación Americana del Habla, Lenguaje y Audición

Mrs. Lily Waterston

## Drug for Neglected Diseases Initiative/ Iniciativa Medicamentos para Enfermedades Olvidadas

Sr. Francisco Viegas Neves da Silva Sra. Cecilia Castillo Sr. Michel R Lotrowska

## Framework Covention Alliance/ Alianza para el Convenio Marco

Dr. Eduardo Bianco

## Healthy Caribbean Coalition/ Coalición del Caribe Saludable

Ms. Maisha Hutton Dr. Trevor Hassell Ms. Maxine Nuñez

# Inter-American Heart Foundation/ Fundación Interamericana del Corazón

Dra. Beatriz Champagne Sra. Eugenia Ramos

# Latin American Association of Pharmaceutical industries/Asociación Latianoamericana de Industrias Farmaceúticas

Sr. Rubén Abete Sr. Miguel Ángel Maito

# Latin America Federation of the Pharmaceutical Industry/Federación Latinoamericana de la Industria Farmacéutica

Sr. Juan Carlos Trujillo Sr. Rafael Diaz-Granados

# Latin American Society of Nephrology and Hypertension/ Sociedad Latinoamericana de Nefrología e Hipertensión

Dr. Alejandro Ferreiro Fuentes Dr. Guillermo Álvarez Sra. María Carlota González Bedat

# Latin American and Caribbean Women's Health Network/Red de Salud de las Mujeres Latinoamericanas y del Caribe

Sra. Sandra Castañeda

#### Mundo Sano Foundation/ Fundación Mundo Sano

Ms. Andrea Gómez Sr. Marcelo Abril

# National Alliance for Hispanic Health/ Alianza Nacional para la Salud Hispana

Ms. Marcela Gaitán

# Pan American Federation of Nursing Professionals/ Federación Panamericana de Profesionales de Enfermería

Sr. José Jeréz

#### Sabin Vaccine Institute/ Instituto de vacunas Sabin

Ms. Madeline Kuney

# World Association for Sexual Health/ Asociación Mundial para la Salud Sexual

Dra. Esther Corona

# REPRESENTATIVES OF NON-STATES ACTORS IN OFFICIAL RELATIONS WITH PAHO / REPRESENTANTES DE ACTORES NO ESTATALES EN RELACIONES OFICIALES CON LA OPS (cont.)

# World Resources Institute/ Instituto de Recursos Mundiales

Mr. Alejandro Schwedhelm

# REPRESENTATIVES OF NON-STATES ACTORS IN OFFICIAL RELATIONS WITH WHO / REPRESENTANTES DE ACTORES NO ESTATALES EN RELACIONES OFICIALES CON LA OMS

#### Alzheimer's Disease International

Ms. Laura Dabas

# American Heart Association/ Asociación Americana del Corazón

Ms. Diana Vaca McGhie

# **Center for Advanced Metabolic Medicine** and Nutrition

Dr. Ada Cuevas

#### **COCHRANE**

Ms. Tiffany Duque Mr. Xavier Bonfill

#### Federación Internacional Farmacéutica/ International Pharmaceutical Federation

Mr. Eduardo Savio Mr. Carlos Lacava Ms. Yajaira Quesada

# International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care/Asociación Internacional de Hospicios y Cuidados Paliativos

Ms. Liliana De Lima Ms. Patricia Bonilla

# International Council of Nurses/ Consejo Internacional de Enfermería

Ms. Erica Burton

# International Federation of Medical Students Associations/Federación Internacional de Asociaciones de Estudiantes de Medicina

Dr. Chistopher Nahuel Spina Mena

Dra. Mariana Martins

Dr. Kelan Wu

Dr. Yousra-Imane Benaskeur

Dra. María José Jaramillo Cartwright

Dr. Álvaro Mazariegos Dr. Javier Shafick Asfura

# International Federation on Ageing/ Federación Internacional sobre el Envejecimiento

Ms. Jane Barrat

# International Society of Nephrology/Sociedad Internacional de Nefrología

Dra. Tara Riva Dra. Adeera Levin

# International Pharmaceutical Students' Federation/Federación Internacional Estudiantes de Farmacia

Ms. Alejandra Martínez Ms. Kathleen Laya Ms. Hera Ali

Ms. Sofiya Terekhovska Mr. Jean-Pierre Regalado

# REPRESENTATIVES OF NON-STATES ACTORS IN OFFICIAL RELATIONS WITH WHO / REPRESENTANTES DE ACTORES NO ESTATALES EN RELACIONES OFICIALES CON LA OMS (cont.)

International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations/ Federación Internacional de Fabricantes y Asociaciones Farmacéuticas

Ms. Vanessa Peberdy Mr. Josh Black

Internacional Society of Radiographers and Radiological Technologists/Sociedad Internacional de Radiógrafos y Tecnólogos en RadiaciónISRRT

Mr. Terry Ell

Word Council of Churches/ Consejo Mundial de Iglesias

Mr. Mwai Makoka

World Heart Federation/ Federación Mundial del Corazón

Ms. Kelcey Armstrong- Walenczak

Mr. Yunshu Wang Ms. Florence Berteletti

World Federation of Societies of Anaesthesiologists/Federación Mundial de Sociedades de Anestesiólogos

Mr. Francis Peel

Word Obesity Federation/ Federación Mundial de Obesidad

Rachel Thompson

Windward Islands Research and Education Foundation/Fundación de Investigación y Educación de las Islas de Barlovento

Mr. Trevor Noel

# SPECIAL GUESTS/ INVITADOS ESPECIALES

Hon. Ms. Mia Mottley
Prime Minister of Barbados

Excmo. Sr. Iván Duque Márquez Presidente de la República de Colombia Sr. Luis Almagro Secretario General Organización de los Estados Americanos

Sr. Luis Alberto Moreno

Presidente

Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo

# WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION/ ORGANIZACIÓN MUNDIAL DE LA SALUD

Dr. Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus Director General

# PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION/ ORGANIZACIÓN PANAMERICANA DE LA SALUD

Director and Secretary ex officio of the Conference/Directora y Secretaria ex officio de la Conferencia

Dr. Carissa F. Etienne

# Advisors to the Director/Asesores de la Directora

Dr. Mary Lou Valdez Deputy Director Directora Adjunta

Dr. Jarbas Barbosa da Silva Jr. Assistant Director Subdirector

# Advisors to the Director/Asesores de la Directora (cont.)

Mr. Gerald Anderson Director of Administration Director de Administración

Dr. Heidi Jiménez Legal Counsel, Office of the Legal Counsel Asesora Jurídica, Oficina del Asesor Jurídico

Ms. Mônica Zaccarelli Davoli Senior Advisor, Governing Bodies Office Asesora Principal, Oficina de los Cuerpos Directivos

- - -